

STATUTES

of the

YUKON TERRITORY

PASSED BY THE LEGISLATURE OF THE YUKON TERRITORY IN THE YEAR 1985

IN THE SECOND SESSION OF THE TWENTY SIXTH LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY

CHAPTERS 5-41

TABLE OF CONTENTS

STATUTES OF YUKON, 1985

BILL	CHAPTER		
NO.	NO	TITLE	PAGE
62	5	Agricultural Products Act	01
54	6	An Act to Amend the Apprentice Training	
		Act	09
04	7	An Act to Amend the Assessment and	
		Taxation Act	11
80	8	An Act to Amend the Business Corporations	
		Act	12
68	9	Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms	
		Consequential Amendments Act, 1985	17
38	10	Central Trust Company and Crown Trust	
		Company Act	23
14	11	An Act to Amend the Chiropractic Act	28
44	12	An Act to Amend the Civil Emergency	
		Measures Act	30
60	13	Dangerous Goods Transportation Act	35
19	14	An Act to Amend the Elections Act	46
16	15	An Act to Amend the Employment Standards	
		Act	47
64	16	An Act to Amend the Energy Conservation	
		Assistance Act	52
06	17	An Act to Amend the Financial	
		Administration Act	54
36	18	Financial Agreement Act, 1985-86	55
18	19	Fine Option Act	57
52	20	First Appropriation Act, 1986-87	59
48	21	An Act to Amend the Fuel Oil Tax Act	61
20	22	Funeral Directors Act	64
34	23	An Act to Amend the Home Owners' Grant	
		Act	68
10	24	An Act to Amend the Income Tax Act	69
24	25	An Act to Amend the Insurance Act	7 7
72	26	An Act to Amend the Legal Profession Act	79
76	27	The Loan Guarantee Act, 1985	85
46	28	An Act to Amend the Matrimonial Property	
		and Family Support Act	86
70	29	Miscellaneous Statute Law Amendment Act,	
		1985	87

BILL NO.	CHAPTER NO.	TITLE	PAGE
66	30	An Act to Amend the Motor Vehicles Act	91
56	31	An Act to Amend the Noise Prevention Act	93
32	32	An Act to Amend the Partnership Act	96
12	33	Raven Act	102
50	34	An Act to Amend the Reciprocal Enforcement	
		of Maintenance Orders Act	103
22	35	An Act to Amend the Retirement Plan	
		Beneficiaries Act	106
30	36	An Act to Amend the Sale of Goods Act	107
02	37	Second Appropriation Act. 1985-86	108
26	38	An Act to Amend the Summary Convictions	
		Act	110
40	39	Third Appropriation Act, 1985-86	113
74	40	An Act to Amend the Wildlife Act	115
28	41	Yukon Development Corporation	116

AGRICULTURAL PRODUCTS ACT

(Assented to October 23, 1985)

The Commissioner of the Yukon Territory, by and with the advice and consent of the Legislative Assembly, enacts as follows:

- 1. This Act may be cited as the Agricultural Products Act.
- 2. In this Act,

"agricultural product" means any product of commercial or domestic agriculture, horticulture, animal husbandry, bee-keeping, berry-picking, fishing, hunting or other similar activity, grown, raised, harvested, collected, caught, taken, picked, packaged, processed or otherwise produced or processed in Yukon for human consumption including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, meat, honey, fish, poultry, eggs, milk, yogurt, teas, vegetables, nuts, mushrooms, berries, fruit and grains, whether wild or domestic;

"contaminated" means sprayed, coated, mixed with or in any way in contact with dirt, toxic substances, or unsanitary substances, or altered by heat, chemical, biological or other actions:

"inspector" means an inspector appointed under this Act;
"regulated product" means an agricultural product that has
been declared by the regulations to be a regulated product;
"sell" includes any transaction in respect of the possession
of any regulated product made for any consideration or in hope
or expectation thereof, including

- (a) commercial promotions where regulated products are ostensibly given away for free, and
- (b) transactions in which a regulated product is made available to a person for no consideration, but the product is to be or is in fact processed or altered after the product is made available for any consideration, or in hope or expectation thereof, by the person making the product available in the first place.

- The Commissioner in Executive Council shall appoint such inspectors as are considered necessary for the administration and enforcement of this Act.
- 4. In the performance of duties under this Act, an inspector and any person accompanying an inspector at his or her request for the purpose of assisting in the performance of his or her duties, may enter upon any land, and while so engaged they are liable only for any actual damage wilfully or negligently caused by them.
- 5. Every inspector has the authority to enforce the provisions of this Act and to issue any licence that may be issued under this Act.
- 6. An inspector may inspect any agricultural product found in a place to which the public has access.
- 7. (1) An inspector may at any reasonable time enter any premises in respect of which a licence has been issued under this Act in order to inspect the premises for the purposes of this Act related to the licence.
 - (2) Where an inspector is refused entry to any premises under subsection (1), the Executive Council Member may suspend or cancel the licence.
- 8. (1) An inspector may at any reasonable time require a person to produce for inspection any records the person is required to keep under this Act, and the inspector may take extracts from them or make copies of them.
 - (2) Where a person refuses to produce within a reasonable time any record for the inspection of an inspector under subsection (1), the inspector may apply to a justice of the peace for an order for the seizure of the record to enable extracts to be taken or copies made.
 - (3) Records seized under subsection (2) shall be returned to the person from whom they were seized as soon as practicable after the necessary extracts are taken or copies made.

- 9. (1) Subject to subsection (2), where an inspector has reasonable and probable grounds to believe and does believe that there is in any place any agricultural product in respect of which anything has been done or omitted to be done in contravention of this Act, or any object used for the commission of an offence under this Act, the inspector may search the place.
 - (2) An inspector shall not search any place unless, immediately before the search, the inspector obtains the permission of a lawful occupant to do so, or unless the inspector obtains a search warrant authorizing the search.
 - (3) A search warrant may be issued by a justice of the peace where he or she is satisfied by information upon oath that there are reasonable grounds for believing that there is in any place
 - (a) any papers, bcoks, films, pictures, recordings or records that may afford evidence of the commission of an offence under this Act. or
 - (b) any agricultural product or object referred to in subsection (1).
 - (4) In the carrying-out of a search under this section, an inspector may use all force that is necessary in the circumstances, including the breaking of any lock or fastening, but the inspector shall
 - (a) ensure that the premises are left as secure after the search as they were at the commencement of the search, and
 - (b) make a reasonable effort forthwith after the search to give notice of any action under this subsection to the owner or other person entitled to possession of the place searched.
 - (5) Where the owner or other person authorized to occupy a dwelling house that is not vacant is absent from the premises, an inspector shall not exercise any power under subsection (4) unless
 - (a) he or she is accompanied by a member of the Royal Canadian Mounted Police, and
 - (b) he or she has made a reasonable effort to give advance notice of the search to the owner or other person.
 - (6) Where an inspector is carrying out a search under this section he or she may be accompanied by any person who may be of assistance in carrying out the search.

- (7) A search warrant issued under this section shall be executed by day unless the justice, by the warrant, authorizes execution of it by night.
- (8) In this section "place" includes any land, building, dwelling house, tent, camper, trailer, motor home, aircraft, or watercraft.
- 10. (1) An inspector may seize any agricultural product in whole or in part where he or she is of the opinion that
 - (a) it may be evidence of the commission of an offence under this Act.
 - (b) it may disclose evidence of disease,
 - (c) it may be so contaminated as to make it unfit for human consumption, or
 - (d) it is found with any agricultural product that is seized under paragraph (a), (b) or (c) and it is not easily distinguishable therefrom.
 - (2) Where an inspector finds anything that he or she reasonably believes may be evidence of the commission of an offence under this Act, he or she may seize it.
- 11. An agricultural product may be seized without removing it from the premises or place at which it is located at the time of the seizure.
- 12. Upon the seizure of anything under this Act, a receipt reasonably descriptive of the seized products or things shall be issued to the person from where they were seized, but if there is no such person present
 - (a) the receipt shall be left in a prominent place at the place of the seizure, if the seizure is made on private property, and
 - (b) notice of the seizure shall be given by newspaper advertisement or such other means as reasonably might bring the seizure to the attention of interested persons, if the seizure is not made on private property.
- 13. (1) Subject to subsection (2), the Executive Council Member may release from seizure any agricultural product or other thing seized under section 10.

- (2) No agricultural product shall be released from seizure, and no court shall make any order to that effect, if the product is unfit for human consumption, unless appropriate conditions are imposed for its disposal or destruction.
- 14. (1) Notwithstanding any other provision of this or any other Act or law, where an agricultural product that has been seized is found to be diseased or contaminated so as to render it unfit for human consumption, an inspector may issue an order for its destruction or other disposition.
 - (2) An order under subsection (1) may provide for the destruction of an agricultural product without its removal from the premises or place where it is located, notwithstanding that it may be located on private property.
- 15. (1) Where an agricultural product is seized under paragraph 10(b) or (c) and no evidence of disease or contamination is subsequently found, it shall forthwith be released from seizure, but if the product has spoiled while under seizure the Executive Council Member may pay to the owner compensation for the loss not exceeding the fair market value the product might reasonably have been expected to bring if it had not been seized.
 - (2) Compensation under subsection (1) shall be paid to the owner where the spoilage of the agricultural product has resulted from the willful or negligent failure of the inspector or the Executive Council Member, or anyone acting on behalf of the inspector or the Executive Council Member, to take reasonable care of the product during the seizure.
 - (3) In the absence of agreement between the Executive Council Member and the owner of an agricultural product under subsection (1) or (2), the Agricultural Products Appeal Board may, upon the application of either party, determine the fair market value the agricultural product might reasonably have been expected to bring if it had not been seized.
- 16. Except as provided by section 15, no liability attaches to the Crown, the Executive Council Member or an inspector, or to any person assisting the Executive Council Member or an inspector at his or her request, for loss or damage arising from the seizure, disposal or destruction of any diseased or contaminated agricultural product under this Act.

- 17. An inspector may issue an order for the cleansing or closure of any premises, other than a dwelling house, where it is found to have contained any diseased or contaminated agricultural product.
- 18. (1) Every order under section 14, 17 or 21 shall be in writing and shall specify with reasonable particularity the persons who are to comply with the order and the actions that are to be taken by them.
 - (2) An inspector may, in writing, vary or revoke any order he or she has made.
- 19. (1) The Commissioner in Executive Council may, by regulation, declare any agricultural product to be a regulated product.
 - (2) A regulation under subsection (1) may be general, or it may restrict its operation in whole or in part to products coming from
 - (a) any specified area of Yukon,
 - (b) any specified agricultural activity or enterprise, or
 - (c) any place outside Yukon.
 - (3) The Commissioner in Executive Council may make regulations
 - (a) prescribing the records to be kept by any person producing, processing, selling, storing, transporting or delivering regulated products;
 - (b) regulating the handling, processing, packaging, storage, transportation and sale of regulated products;
 - (c) prescribing inspection requirements for regulated products;
 - (d) prescribing quality standards for regulated products:
 - (e) prescribing methods for marking or otherwise certifying regulated products after inspection.
- 20. (1) No person shall sell a regulated product or offer a regulated product for sale to any person unless the product has been approved by an inspector in accordance with regulations applying to that product.
 - (2) Subsection (1) does not prohibit a person from making an occasional private sale of a live animal raised by the person, whether or not he or she assists the purchaser with the slaughter or butchering of the animal.

- 21. Where an inspector finds a regulated product that is diseased, contaminated or otherwise unfit for human consumption, the inspector shall
 - (a) mark or identify it in the prescribed manner, and
 - (b) subject to the regulations, issue a written order giving directions for the destruction or other disposition of the product.
- 22. (1) The Commissioner in Executive Council shall establish an Agricultural Products Appeal Board for the purposes of section 15 and to hear appeals from decisions and orders of inspectors under this Act.
 - (2) The Agricultural Products Appeal Board shall consist of the prescribed number of members appointed in accordance with the regulations for the prescribed term.
 - (3) Subject to the regulations, the Agricultural Products Appeal Board may determine its own rules of procedure.
 - (4) A member of the Agricultural Products Appeal Board may be paid transportation, accommodation and living expenses incurred in connection with the performance of his or her duties as a member of the board away from his or her ordinary place of residence but, except as otherwise provided by the regulations, the payment of such expenses shall conform as nearly as possible in all respects to the payment of such expenses for members of the public service of Yukon.
 - (5) All evidence received by the Agricultural Products Appeal Board shall be given under oath or affirmation, which may be administered as the board may direct, and the board may receive evidence orally or by affidavit or declaration as it may deem proper.
 - (6) Except as provided under subsection (5), the Agricultural Products Appeal Board is not bound by the technical rules of evidence applying to judicial proceedings.
- 23. The Commissioner in Executive Council may make regulations exempting any person or transaction in agricultural products, or any class thereof, from the application of all or part of this Act.

- 24. (1) Every person who fails to obey an order of an inspector under this Act commits an offence.
 - (2) Every person who commits an offence under this Act is liable on summary conviction to a fine of up to \$1,000 or to imprisonment for a term of up to six months, or both.
- 25. The Commissioner in Executive Council may make regulations
 - (a) prescribing forms;
 - (b) prescribing fees to be paid in respect of any form, service, inspection or other matter under this Act;
 - (c) establishing grades for agricultural products;
 - (d) prescribing standards for and regulating all aspects of the operation of premises where animals are slaughtered or meat or fish is cut, wrapped, frozen, cured, smoked or aged;
 - (e) prescribing standards for and regulating all aspects of the operation of premises where agricultural products other than those referred to in paragraph (d) are processed;
 - (f) providing for the licensing of premises referred to in paragraphs (d) and (e) or any other undertaking for the processing, packaging, storing, transporting, handling or selling of agricultural products;
 - (g) governing the slaughter of animals;
 - (h) prescribing diseases which render agricultural products unfit for human consumption;
 - (i) providing for the exemption, with or without conditions, of any person or agricultural product, or class of persons or products, from the operation of this Act, or any provision of this Act;
 - (j) providing for any matter required to be prescribed under any other provision of this Act;
 - (k) generally, respecting any other matter the Commissioner in Executive Council considers necessary for carrying the purposes and provisions of this Act into effect.

AN ACT TO AMEND THE APPRENTICE TRAINING ACT

(Assented to October 23, 1985)

- 1. This Act amends the Apprentice Training Act.
- 2. The following is substituted for section 3:
 - "3. The Executive Council Member shall designate a member of the public service of Yukon to be director of apprentice training who shall be responsible for the administration of this Act and shall perform the duties and have the powers that are or may be assigned to him or her under this Act."
- 3. The following is substituted for section 4:
 - "4. The Executive Council Member may designate members of the public service of Yukon to be inspectors of apprentice training who shall act under the supervision of the director of apprentice training and shall perform the duties and have the powers that are or may be assigned to them under this Act."
- 4. The following is substituted for section 5:
 - "5. (1) There shall be a board of not less than five members to be known as the Apprentice Advisory Board.
 - (2) The director of apprentice training shall be a member and the chairman of the Apprentice Advisory Board, and the other members of the board shall be appointed by the Commissioner in Executive Council.

- (3) Of the members of the Apprentice Advisory Board appointed by the Commissioner in Executive Council, half shall be employers of persons in a designated occupation and half shall be employees in a designated occupation.
- (4) A member of the Apprentice Advisory Board may be paid such remuneration as may be prescribed and may also be paid transportation, accommodation and living expenses incurred in connection with the performance of his or her duties as a member of the board away from his or her ordinary place of residence but, except as otherwise prescribed, the payment of such expenses shall conform as nearly as possible in all respects to the payment of such expenses for members of the public service of Yukon.
- (5) The Apprentice Advisory Board shall perform such duties and have such powers as may be assigned to it under this Act."
- 5. (1) In sections 6 and 7, the expression "Executive Council Member" is substituted for the word "Commissioner".
 - (2) In section 8.
 - (a) the expression "Executive Council Member" is substituted for the word "Commissioner" where the latter first appears; and
 - (b) the expression "Commissioner in Executive Council" is substituted for the word "Commissioner" where the latter last appears.
 - (3) In section 9, the expression "Commissioner in Executive Council" is substituted for the word "Commissioner".
- 6. The following subsection is added to section 9:
 - "(2) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Act, the Commissioner in Executive Council may make regulations establishing standards, and providing for the issuance of certificates of occupational status, competency or proficiency for occupations, whether or not a program of apprentice training is provided in respect thereof under this Act."
- 7. The word "director" is substituted for the word "Superintendent" wherever the latter appears.

AN ACT TO AMEND THE ASSESSMENT AND TAXATION ACT

(Assented to October 23, 1985)

- 1. This Act amends the Assessment and Taxation Act.
- 2. Paragraph 56(2)(b) is repealed.

AN ACT TO AMEND THE BUSINESS CORPORATIONS ACT

(Assented to October 23, 1985)

- 1. (1) This Act amends the Business Corporations Act.
- 2. (1) In paragraph 7(b), the expression "subsection 12(3) and" is added immediately after the expression "required by".
 - (2) The following subsection is added to section 7:
 - "(2) If the name of the corporation set out in the articles of incorporation contains the words "Professional Corporation", the incorporator shall also send to the Registrar satisfactory evidence of the approval of the articles by or on behalf of the governing body or licensing agency of the appropriate profession or occupation."
- 3. (1) In subsection 10(1), the expression "notwithstanding that the full or abbreviated form appears on its certificate of incorporation" is added immediately after the word "form".
 - (2) In subsection 10(8), the expression "subsections (7) and (9)" is substituted for the expression "subsection (7)".
 - (3) The following subsection is added to section 10:
 - "(9) Where a corporation carries on business or identifies itself by a name other than its corporate name, the name shall not contain a word referred to in subsection (3)."
- 4. The following sections are substituted for section 12:
 - "12. (1) A corporation shall not have a name
 - (a) that is prohibited by the regulations or contains a word or expression prohibited by the regulations,

- (b) except in the circumstances and on the conditions prescribed by the regulations, that is identical to the name of
 - (i) a corporation or intended corporation reserved under subsection 11(1),
 - (ii) a body corporate incorporated under the laws of Yukon whether in existence or not,
 - (iii) an extra-territorial corporation registered in Yukon, or
 - (iv) a Canada corporation,
- (c) except in the circumstances and on the conditions prescribed by the regulations, that is similar to the name of
 - (i) a corporation or intended corporation reserved under subsection 11(1),
 - (ii) a body corporate incorporated under the laws of Yukon.
 - (iii) an extra-territorial corporation registered in Yukon, or
 - (iv) a Canada corporation.

if the use of that name is confusing or misleading, or

- (d) that does not meet the requirements prescribed by the regulations.
- (2) Where a body corporate incorporated under the laws of Yukon gives an undertaking to dissolve or change its name and the undertaking is not carried out within the time specified, the registrar may, by notice in writing giving reasons, direct the body corporate to change its name within 60 days of the date of the notice to a name of which the registrar approves.
- (3) The prescribed documents relating to corporate names shall be sent to the registrar.
- 12.1 (1) If, through inadvertence or otherwise, a corporation comes into existence with a name or acquires a name that contravenes section 10 or 12, the registrar may, by notice in writing giving reasons, direct the corporation to change its name within 60 days of the date of the notice to a name of which the registrar approves.

- (2) The registrar may give a notice under subsection (1) on his or her cwn initiative or at the request of a person who feels aggrieved by the name that contravenes section 10 or 12, as the case may be.
- (3) If a corporation is directed to change its name under subsection (1) or subsection 12(2) and does not appeal the request of the registrar within 60 days of the date of the notice, the registrar may revoke the name of the corporation and assign to it a number designated or a name approved by the registrar and, until changed in accordance with section 167, the name of the corporation is the number or name so assigned.
- (4) If the registrar is satisfied that a professional corporation has ceased to be the holder of a subsisting permit as a professional corporation issued under an Act governing a profession or occupation, the registrar may, on giving notice to the professional corporation of his or her intention to do so, change the name of the corporation to exclude the words "Professional Corporation" and replace them with any other word referred to in subsection 10(3)."
- 5. In subsection 13(1), the expression "subsection 12.1(3) or 12.1(4)" is substituted for the expression "subsection 12(7) or 12(11)".
- 6. The following subsection is added to section 171:
 - "(1.1) Where an amendment changes the name of a corporation, the prescribed documents relating to the change of name shall be sent to the registrar, unless otherwise stipulated by the registrar."
- 7. In subsection 179(1), the expression "and, if the name of the amalgamated company is not the same as that of one of the amalgamating companies, the prescribed documents relating to corporate names" is added immediately after the number "101".
- 8. In subsections 181(3) and (4), the expression "subsection 12(3) and" is added immediately after the expression "required by".

- 9. (1) The following is substituted for subsection 201(2):
 - "(2) Articles of revival in the prescribed form and the prescribed documents relating to corporate names shall be sent to the registrar unless otherwise stipulated by the registrar."
 - (2) In subsection 201(3), the expression "and the documents referred to in subsection (2)" is added immediately after the expression "articles of revival".
- 10. The following is substituted for paragraph 239(1)(b):
 - "(b) to approve, change or revoke a name or to refuse to approve, change or revoke a name under this Act,".
- 11. The word "and" is deleted from the end of paragraph 254(e), and the following paragraphs are substituted for paragraph 254(f):
 - "(f) respecting names of corporations and extra-territorial corporations;
 - (g) prohibiting the use of any names or any words or expressions in a name;
 - (h) defining any word or expression used in sections 12(1)(c) and 269(1)(c);
 - (i) prescribing requirements for the purpose of sections 12(1)(d) and 269(1)(d);
 - (j) respecting the circumstances and conditions under which a name under sections 12(1) and 269(1) may be used;
 - (k) prescribing the documents referred to in sections 12(3), 171(1.1), 179(1), 201 and 276(1);
 - (1) prescribing the punctuation marks and other marks that may form part of a name."
- 12. The following subsection is substituted for subsections 269(1), (2) and (3):
 - "269.(1) Subject to the circumstances and conditions prescribed by the regulations, an extra-territorial corporation shall not be registered with a name or carry on business within Yukon under an assumed name
 - (a) that is prohibited by the regulations or contains a word or expression prohibited by the regulations,
 - (b) that is identical to the name of
 - (i) an extra-territorial corporation or an intended extra-territorial corporation reserved under section 268.

- (ii) a body corporate incorporated under the laws of Yukon, whether in existence or not.
- (iii) an extra-territorial corporation
 registered in Yukon, or
- (iv) a Canada corporation,
- (c) that is, in the opinion of the registrar, similar to the name of
 - (i) an extra-territorial corporation or an intended extra-territorial corporation reserved under section 268.
 - (ii) a body corporate incorporated under the laws of Yukon,
 - (iii) an extra-territorial corporation registered in Yukon, or
 - (iv) a Canada corporation,
 if the use of that name is confusing or misleading, or
- (d) that does not meet the requirements prescribed by the regulations."
- 13. In subsection 272(2), the expression "Except where the cancellation is in consequence of a notice to the registrar under subsection (4) or a notice of the extra-territorial corporation being dissolved, the registrar" is substituted for the expression "The Registrar".
- 14. The following paragraph is added to subsection 276(1):
 - "(a.1) if the amendment to the charter effects a change in the name under which the extra-territorial corporation is registered, the prescribed documents relating to corporate names, and ".

CANADIAN CHARTER OF RIGHTS AND FREEDOMS CONSEQUENTIAL AMENDMENTS ACT, 1985

(Assented to October 28, 1985)

- This Act may be cited as the Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms Consequential Amendments Act, 1985.
- 2. (1) The following is substituted for subsection 3(2) of the Change of Name Act:
 - "(2) This Act does not apply to a change of surname by a person to that of his or her spouse upon marriage, to resumption upon dissolution of marriage of the surname that was given up upon marriage, or to a change of any name effected under the Children's Act in consequence of adoption."
 - (2) The following is substituted for section 4 of the Change of Name Act:
 - "4. A person who has attained the age of majority, is a Canadian citizen or has the status of a permanent resident of Canada, and is a resident of Yukon may apply to the Court for a change of name."
 - (3) The following is substituted for section 7 of the Change of Name Act:
 - "7. (1) Subject to subsection 9(3), a married person who applies for a change of name may apply for a surname different from that of his or her spouse, but shall also apply for a change in the surname of all his or her or their children, if such a change is necessary, so that the surname of those children shall be one of the following:
 - (a) the surname of the applicant married person;

- (b) the surname of the spouse of the applicant married person;
- (c) a surname comprising the surname of the applicant married person combined or hyphenated with the surname of his or her spouse.
- (2) A married person who applies for a change of name may, with the consent of his or her spouse and any child concerned, apply for a change in any given name of the spouse or of any of his or her or their children.
- (3) A married person who applies for a change of name may apply for a change in the surname of a married child who is under 19 years of age if
 - (a) that child and his or her spouse consent to the change, and
 - (b) the application is accompanied by an application for a like change in the surname of the spouse and of any issue of the married child and the spouse."
- (4) The following is substituted for paragraph 8(d) of the Change of Name Act:
 - "(d) may apply for a change in the surname of a married child who is under 19 years of age if
 - (i) that child and his or her spouse consent to the change, and
 - (ii) the application is accompanied by an application for a like change in the surname of the spouse and of any issue of the married child and the spouse."
- (5) The following is substituted for subsection 9(3) of the Change of Name Act:
 - "(3) A person whose marriage has been dissolved and who marries again may, with the consent of the person he or she marries, apply for a change in the surname of his or her children to the surname of the new spouse."

- (6) The following is substituted for subsection 10(1) of the Change of Name Act:
 - "(1) A widow or widower who marries again or an unmarried mother who marries may, with the consent of the children and of the person he or she marries, apply for a change in the surname of his or her children to that of the new spouse."
- Subsection 9(4) of the Dog Act is amended by striking out the expression "and shall place upon the accused the burden of proof".
- 4. (1) Subsection 54(18) of the Elections Act is amended by striking out the expression ", except that, where no interpreter is found, the elector shall not be allowed to vote".
- 5. Section 26 of the Engineering Profession Act is repealed.
- 6. Subsection 8(3) of the Evidence Act is repealed.
- 7. (1) The following subsection is added to section 3 of the Interpretation Act:
 - "(2.1) Subsection (2) does not apply to the operation of section 4.1.".
 - (2) The following section is added immediately before section 5 in the Interpretation Act:
 - "4.1 (1) Female and male persons enjoy equality of status and obligations under enactments, unless the enactment expressly excludes the operation of this section.
 - (2) For the purpose of ensuring the equality of status of female and male persons in respect of rights and obligations under enactments, in an enactment an expression that imports a male person includes a female person and an expression that imports a female person imports a male person, unless the enactment in which the expression occurs expressly excludes the operation of this section."
 - (3) The following is substituted for paragraph 17(1)(g) of the Interpretation Act:
 - "(g) words importing male persons or female persons include corporations;".

- (4) The following expression is added to the end of paragraph 17(1)(h) of the Interpretation Act: "and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the pronoun "they" and its variants may be used to denote, in the subjective, objective and possessive cases, the third person singular as well as the third person plural".
- 8. (1) Subsection 69(2) of the Liquor Act is repealed.
 - (2) In subsection 77(2) of the Liquor Act, the expression "Where there is evidence capable of establishing that a person consumed, supplied or administered liquor, the burden of establishing that" is substituted for the expression "The burden of proof that".
 - (3) In subsection 90(1) of the Liquor Act, the expression "premises in which the offence is committed when the offence is committed" is substituted for the expression "premises in which the offence is committed".
 - (4) Subsection 91(1) of the Liquor Act is repealed.
 - (5) The following is substituted for subsection 99(5) of the Liquor Act:
 - "(5) Where a peace officer proposes to conduct a search in respect of an offence against this Act or the regulations and the peace officer is not of the same sex as the person to be searched, the peace officer shall engage to perform the search a person who is of the same sex as the person to be searched; the person so engaged may perform the search and for that purpose has all the powers and immunities of a peace officer."
- 9. (1) Sections 19, 20 and 22 of the Marriage Act are repealed.
 - (2) The following is substituted for subsection 46(1) of the Marriage Act:
 - "46. (1) Where a minor cannot obtain a consent required under section 44 or the consent is refused, he or she may apply to a judge of the Supreme Court for and the judge may grant an order dispensing with such consent."
- 10. Subsection 6(2) of the Mechanics' Lien Act is repealed.

- 11. In subsection 6.1(3) of the Mental Health Act, the number "24" is substituted for the number "120".
- 12. Subsection 48(8) of the Motor Transport Act is amended by striking out the expression "and the burden is on the accused in all cases of proving that the public service so operated in a manner different from that alleged in the prosecution".
- 13. The following is substituted for subsection 18.1(7) of the Public Health Act:
 - "(7) Where a peace officer proposes to conduct a search in respect of an offence against this Act or the regulations and the peace officer is not of the same sex as the person to be searched, the peace officer shall engage to perform the search a person who is of the same sex as the person to be searched; the person so engaged may perform the search and for that purpose has all the powers and immunities of a peace officer."
- 14. Subsection 20(3) of the Securities Act is repealed.
- 15. The following subsections are substituted for subsections 4(5) to (8) of the Vital Statistics Act:
 - "(5) Subject to subsection (6), the birth of a child to a married woman shall be registered giving the particulars of her husband as those of the father of the child.
 - (6) Where a child is born to
 - (a) an unmarried woman, or
 - (b) a married woman who files with the registrar general a statutory declaration that
 - (i) at the time of the conception, she was living separate and apart from her husband, and
 - (ii) her husband is not the father of the child,

no particulars as to the father shall be given in the statement required pursuant to subsection (2), unless the mother and a person acknowledging himself to be the father jointly request in writing that the particulars of the person acknowledging himself as the father be given as the particulars of the father.

- (7) Subject to subsection (8), the birth of a child to a married woman shall be registered showing, as the surname of the child,
 - (a) the surname of the husband,
 - (b) the surname of the married woman, or
 - (c) a hyphenated surname comprised of the surnames described in paragraphs (a) and (b).
- (8) The birth of a child to a married woman who files a statutory declaration pursuant to subsection (6) or to an unmarried woman shall be registered showing the surname of the mother as the surname of the child unless the mother and the person acknowledging himself to be the father jointly request in writing that the birth be registered showing as the surname of the child
 - (a) the surname of the father, or
 - (b) a hyphenated surname comprised of the surnames of the mother and the father.
- (8.1) If a request pursuant to subsection (6) or (8) is made after the registration of the birth, the director shall amend the registration in accordance with the request by making the necessary notation."

CENTRAL TRUST COMPANY AND CROWN TRUST COMPANY ACT

(Assented to October 23, 1985)

The Commissioner of the Yukon Territory, by and with the advice and consent of the Legislative Assembly, enacts as follows:

- This Act may be cited as the Central Trust Company and Crown Trust Company Act.
- Nothing in this Act affects the rights of any person having a claim against Crown Trust Company in respect of a document or trust to which section 4 applies, or impairs, modifies or affects the liability of Crown Trust Company to any such person, but all such rights as may be enforceable in Yukon may be asserted against Central Trust Company, which shall be responsible for all debts, liabilities and obligations of Crown Trust Company in respect of every such document and trust.

3. (1) This Act does not apply to

- (a) real or personal property owned or held by, vested in or granted to Crown Trust Company, and that is held by Crown Trust Company exclusively for its own use and benefit, and not in trust for or for the benefit of any other person or purpose.
- (b) real or personal property that is held by Crown Trust Company under a document or trust to which section 4 applies that is situate outside Yukon and any power, right, immunity, privilege or right of action that may be exercised by or against Crown Trust Company under any such document or trust with respect to that property, but

- (i) for all property situate cutside Yukon for which Crown Trust Company has been appointed, or is entitled to be appointed, by a court of Yukon as personal representative of a deceased person, whether as executor, administrator or otherwise, Central Trust Company may, upon application to that court, be appointed personal representative in the place and stead of Crown Trust Company with respect to that property, and
- (ii) for all property situate outside Yukon not coming within clause (i), but held by Crown Trust Company under a document or trust to which section 4 applies, for which the Supreme Court has jurisdiction under the Trustee Act to make an order for the appointment of a new trustee, Central Trust Company may, upon application to the Supreme Court, be appointed trustee in the place and stead of Crown Trust Company with respect to that property, and such appointment has for all purposes of the laws of Yukon the same effect as if made under the Trustee Act,

and sections 2 and 7 of this Act apply to every document and trust in respect of which an appointment is made under clause (i) or (ii);

- (c) trusts relating to money received for guaranteed investment and any real or personal property held in trust with respect to any such guaranteed investment of which Crown Trust Company is trustee.
- (2) Notwithstanding paragraph (1)(c), this Act applies to trusts relating to money received for guaranteed investment and any real or personal property held in trust with respect to any registered retirement savings plan, registered retirement income fund, registered home ownership savings plan, deferred profit-sharing plan or income averaging annuity contract, as those terms are defined in the Income Tax Act (Canada).
- 4. (1) Subject to section 3, and notwithstanding any contrary provision in the Trustee Act, Central Trust Company is substituted in the place and stead of Crown Trust Company in or in respect of every trust, trust deed, trust agreement, instrument of creation, settlement, assignment, will, codicil or other testamentary document, and every letters probate, letters of administration, judgment, decree, order, direction

or appointment of any court, judge or other constituted authority, and every other document or trust howsoever created, including every incomplete or inchoate trust, and in every conveyance, mortgage, assignment, appointment or other writing, wherein or whereby, or of which Crown Trust Company is named as executor, administrator, trustee, bailee, committee, assignee, liquidator, receiver, guardian, curator or agent, or is named to any other office or position whatsoever wherein any property, interest, possibility or right is vested in, administered or managed by, or put in charge of Crown Trust Company in trust, or in the custody, care or control of Crown Trust Company, for or for the benefit of any person or purpose, and every such document and trust shall be construed and given effect as if Central Trust Company had been named therein in the place and stead of Crown Trust Company.

- (2) Notwithstanding any contrary provision in the Trustee Act, where an instrument specified or described in subsection (1) names Crown Trust Company to any office or position described in that subsection and the instrument takes effect after the substitution of Central Trust Company for Crown Trust Company, Central Trust Company shall be deemed to be named therein in the place of Crown Trust Company.
- 5. Subject to section 3, and notwithstanding any contrary provision in the Trustee Act, all real and personal property and every interest therein that is granted to, or held by, or vested in Crown Trust Company, whether by way of security or otherwise, in trust, or in the custody, care or control of Crown Trust Company, for or for the benefit of any other person or purpose, pursuant to or in respect of every document and trust to which section 4 applies, and whether in the form in which it was originally acquired by Crown Trust Company or otherwise, is vested in Central Trust Company, according to the tenor of and at the time indicated or intended by the document or trust, upon the same trusts, and with the same powers, rights, immunities and privileges and subject to the same obligations and duties as are thereby provided, granted or imposed.
- 6. Subject to sections 8, 9 and 10, for the purposes of every Act affecting the title to property, both real and personal, the vesting of title in Central Trust Company of every property affected by section 5 is effective without the registration or filing of this Act, or any further or other instrument, document or certificate showing the change of title in any public office whatsoever within Yukon.

- 7. (1) No suit, action, appeal, application or other proceeding being carried on and no power or remedy being exercised by or against Crown Trust Company in any court of Yukon or before any tribunal or agency in the Yukon Territory, pursuant to or in respect of a document or trust to which section 4 applies, shall be discontinued or abated on account of this Act, but may be continued in the name of Central Trust Company, which shall have the same rights, shall be subject to the same liabilities, and shall pay or receive the same costs and award as if the suit, action, appeal, application or other proceeding had been commenced or defended in the name of Central Trust Company.
 - (2) A suit, action, appeal, application or other proceeding, or a power, right, remedy or right of distress that might have been brought or exercised by or against Crown Trust Company pursuant: to or in respect of a document or trust to which section 4 applies, may be brought or exercised by or against Central Trust Company, which shall have the same rights, and shall be subject to the same liabilities, in respect thereof, as those which Crown Trust Company would have or be subject to if this Act had not been enacted.
 - (3) In a suit, action, appeal, application or other proceeding that has been continued or commenced in the name of Central Trust Company under subsection (1) or (2), Crown Trust Company and its officers and employees shall be deemed to have been acting on behalf of Central Trust Company in performing any act, whether before or after the commencement of this Act, involving the administration of a document or trust to which section 4 applies, and for the purposes of examination for discovery or production of documents in relation to any such proceeding, Crown Trust Company and its officers and employees shall be subject to the same obligations as if this Act has not been enacted.
- 8. Where a person is under an obligation to make payments in relation to property that is vested in Central Trust Company under section 5, the person may make the payments to Crown Trust Company until Central Trust Company gives or causes to be given notice in writing to the person that payment shall be made to Central Trust Company, and thereupon the person's obligation is owed to Central Trust Company.

- 9. (1) Every instrument dealing with property that is vested in Central Trust Company under section 5, but that is registered in the name of Crown Trust Company in any public office in Yukon or in respect of which Crown Trust Company is shown by a document of title as having legal ownership thereof, shall be executed by Central Trust Company and shall contain a recital referring to the vesting under this Act.
 - (2) An instrument executed by Central Trust Company containing the recital required by subsection (1) may be accepted for registration by any public office in Yukon without further proof of the accuracy of the recital, and every such instrument shall be deemed to be effective as against Crown Trust Company and Central Trust Company in passing title to the property described in the instrument notwithstanding any inaccuracy contained in the recital.
- 10. The vesting in Central Trust Company under section 5 of any interest in personal property constitutes a valid assignment of the interest of Crown Trust Company within the meaning of any Act of the Legislature.

AN ACT TO AMEND THE CHIROPRACTIC ACT

(Assented to October 28, 1985)

- 1. This Act amends the Chiropractic Act.
- 2. The following is substituted for section 4:
 - "4. (1) A person who has not practised as a chiropractor in a province within the period of two years immediately preceding the person's application for registration under this Act is entitled to be registered in the register if the person has, during that period, graduated from a recognized school of chiropractic in Canada or obtained a certificate of qualification from the Canadian Chiropractic Examining Board.
 - (2) A person who has practised as a chiropractor in a province within the period of two years immediately preceding the person's application for registration under this Act is entitled to be registered in the register if
 - (a) the person has, at any time, graduated from a recognized school of chiropractic im Canada or obtained a certificate of qualiffication from the Canadian Chiropractic Examining Board; and
 - (b) the person produces a certificate or other proof satisfactory to the Executive Council Member that the person is in good standing as a chiropractor in the province in which the person practised most recently.

- (3) A person who is not entitled to be registered in the register under subsection (1) or (2) may be registered in the register upon production of proof satisfactory to the Executive Council Member that he or she has qualifications and competence to practise chiropractic that, in the opinion of the Executive Council Member, are similar to those required under subsection (1) or (2).
- (4) Notwithstanding subsections (1), (2) and (3), a person is not entitled to be registered in the register until he or she has paid the prescribed registration fee.
- (5) Subject to the other provisions of this Act, a person who is registered in the register on September 30, 1985 shall be deemed to be qualified to be registered in the register."

AN ACT TO AMEND THE CIVIL EMERGENCY MEASURES ACT

(Assented to October 23, 1985)

- 1. This Act amends the Civil Emergency Measures Act.
- 2. In the definition of "Civil Emergency Plan" in section 2 the expression "Commissioner in Executive Council" is substituted for the word "Commissioner".
- 3. (1) In subsection 3(1) the expression "Commissioner in Executive Council" is substituted for the word "Commissioner".
 - (2) In paragraphs 3(2)(a) and (b) the expression "Executive Council Member" is substituted for the word "Commissioner".
- 4. In section 5 the expression "Commissioner in Executive Council" is substituted for the word "Commissioner".
- 5. The following is substituted for section 6:
 - "6. (1) The council of every municipality shall by bylaw establish a municipal civil emergency plan.
 - (2) A municipal civil emergency plan shall
 - (a) specify the powers and duties of the Civil Emergency Measures Commission established under subsection 385(1) of the Municipal Act, and
 - (b) assign to municipal officers and employees such responsibilities as may be necessary for the effective implementation of the plan in the case of a declaration of a state of emergency within or including the municipality under this Act.

- (3) A municipal civil emergency measures plan may be co-ordinated with a civil emergency plan under paragraph 3(2)(a) or a civil emergency plan of another municipality."
- 6. (1) In subsection 7(1) the expression "Commissioner in Executive Council" is substituted for the word "Commissioner".
 - (2) The following new subsections are added immediately after subsection 7(1):
 - "(1.1) A declaration under subsection (1) shall be made by such means as reasonably will bring the declaration promptly to the attention of the inhabitants of the area to which the state of emergency applies.
 - (1.2) A state of emergency commences upon the making of a declaration pursuant to subsection (1.1)."
 - (3) In subsection 7(2) the expression "Commissioner in Executive Council" is substituted for the word "Commissioner".
 - (4) The following new subsection is added immediately after subsection 7(2):
 - "(3) The termination of a state of emergency shall be published in a manner similar to that required by subsection (1.1) for the commencement of the state of emergency."
- 7. The following new section is added immediately after section 7:
 - "7.1 (1) The mayor of a municipality may declare that a state of emergency exists in the municipality where
 - (a) the mayor has reasonable grounds to believe and does believe that a substantial danger to public safety or to property in the municipality exists or is imminent as the result of fire, explosion, flood, earthquake, landslide, weather, epidemic, transportation accident, electrical power failure, nuclear accident or any similar disaster, and
 - (b) the mayor is authorized to declare the state of emergency by resolution of the council passed after its consideration of the occurrence of events that reasonably may be expected to lead to the need to declare the state of emergency.

- (2) A state of emergency declared under subsection (1) shall be published by such means as reasonably will bring the declaration promptly to the attention of the inhabitants of the municipality.
- (3) A state of emergency declared under subsection (1) commences upon the publication of the mayor's declaration in accordance with subsection (2), and continues for 48 hours, but the state of emergency may be replaced by a declaration of a state of emergency pursuant to section 7.
- (4) A state of emergency declared under subsection (1) may be cancelled by order of the Executive Council Member.
- (5) The cancellation of a state of emergency under subsection (4) shall be published in a manner similar to that required by subsection (2) for the commencement of the state of emergency.
- *8. The following is substituted for section 8:
 - "8. (1) Where the Commissioner in Executive Council declares that a state of emergency exists, the Executive Council Member may put into operation in the area in which the state of emergency is declared to exist any civil emergency plan.
 - (2) A municipality is authorized to put its civil emergency plan into operation where a state of emergency is in effect in the municipality under section 7 or 7.1."
- 9. (1) In section 9 the expression "where a state of emergency has been declared to exist under section 7 or 7.1, the Executive Council Number" is substituted for the expression "where the Commissioner has declared that a state of emergency exists, he".
 - (2) The following new subsections are added to section 9:
 - "(2) Where a civil emergency plan referred to in section δ is in effect in a municipality,
 - (a) the council may hold its meetings at any convenient location within or outside the municipality,

- (b) the council is empowered to de all things it considers necessary for the purpose of dealing with the emergency including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, such acts as it considers necessary for
 - (i) protecting property within the municipality,
 - (ii) maintaining, clearing and controlling the use of roads and streets within the municipality,
 - (iii) requisitioning within the municipality or otherwise obtaining and distributing accommodation, food and clothing,
 - (iv) providing other welfare services in addition to those referred to in clause (iii),
 - (v) providing and maintaining water supplies, electrical power, sewage disposal and other utility services,
 - (vi) assisting in the enforcement of the law, and
 - (vii) generally, protecting the health and safety of persons within the municipality, and
- (c) the council may make such bylaws as it considers necessary to put into effect the civil emergency plan of the municipality.
- (3) Notwithstanding any other Act, where a state of emergency has been declared to exist under section 7 or 7.1, every public servant and every member of the public service of Yukon shall comply with the instructions and orders of the Executive Council Member in the exercise of any discretion or authority the public servant or public officer may have for and on behalf of the Government of Yukon, whether statutory, delegated or otherwise, for responding to and dealing with the emergency."
- 10. The following is substituted for section 10:
 - "10. Where a state of emergency has been declared to exist under section 7 or 7.1 the following persons are not liable for any damage caused by interference with the rights of others, and are not subject to proceedings by way of injunction or mandamus in respect of acts done or not done in respect of the emergency:

- (a) a municipality or any person acting under the authority or direction of the Commissioner in Executive Council, the Executive Council Member or the Civil Emergency Planning Officer;
- (b) a municipality or any person who does any act in carrying out a civil emergency plan under this Act;
- (c) any person acting under the authority or direction of the municipality, its council, its civil emergency planning commission or its civil emergency co-ordinator;
- (d) notwithstanding any other Act, the Crown;
- (e) any person acting under a regulation made under paragraph 9(1)(b) or a bylaw made under paragraph 9(2)(c)."
- 11. In sections 11, 12 and 13 the expression "Commissioner in Executive Council" is substituted for the word "Commissioner".
- 12. (1) In section 14 the expression "Commissioner in Executive Council" is substituted for the word "Commissioner".
 - (2) The following subsection is added to section 14:
 - "(2) The Commissioner in Executive Council may make regulations providing for the establishment and operation of a Yukon Disaster Committee, which shall have authority to make plans for the co-ordination of the responses to emergencies by the governments of Yukon and Canada."
- Sections 278 and 279 of the Municipal Act are repealed.

DANGEROUS GOODS TRANSPORTATION ACT

(Assented to October 28, 1985)

The Commissioner of the Yukon Territory, by and with the advice and consent of the Legislative Assembly, enacts as follows:

- This Act may be cited as the Dangerous Goods Transportation Act.
- 2. In this Act.

"analyst" means any person designated as an analyst pursuant to section 11 or pursuant to the federal Act;

"container" means transport equipment, and includes equipment that is carried on a chassis, strong enough to be suitable for repeated use, and designed to facilitate the transportation of goods without intermediate reloading, but does not include vehicles:

"dangerous goods" means any product, substance or organism included by its nature or by the regulations in any of the prescribed classes of dangerous goods;

"federal Act" means the Transportation of Dangerous Goods Act (Canada) and the regulations made under that Act;

"highway" has the same meaning as in the Highways Act;

"inspector" means a person designated as an inspector pursuant to section 12;

"packaging" means any receptacle or enveloping material used to contain or protect dangerous goods, but does not include a container or vehicle;

"safety mark" includes any design, symbol, device, sign, label, placard, letter, word, number or abbreviation, or any combination thereof, that is prescribed for display on dangerous goods or containers, packaging or vehicles used in the transportation of dangerous goods;

"safety requirements" means requirements for the transportation of dangerous goods, the reporting of that transportation, the training of persons engaged in that transportation and the inspection of that transportation; "safety standards" means standards regulating the design, construction, equipment, functioning or performance of containers, packaging or vehicles used in the transportation of dangerous goods;

"shipping document" means any document that accompanies dangerous goods being transported and that describes or contains information relating to the dangerous goods and, without restricting the generality of the foregoing, includes a bill of lading, cargo manifest, shipping order and way-bill; "vehicle" means a device in, upon or by which a person or thing may be transported or drawn upon a highway.

- (1) Subject to subsection (2), this Act applies to the transportation of dangerous goods on any highway by any vehicle, whether or not for hire or reward.
 - (2) This Act does not apply to any transportation of dangerous goods while under the sole direction or control of the Minister of National Defence for Canada.
- 4. Where the provisions of this Act conflict with any other Act, this Act prevails, unless expressly stated otherwise.
- (1) The Executive Council Member may issue a permit exempting any person or dangerous goods from any of the provisions of this Act with respect to the transportation of dangerous goods.
 - (2) The Executive Council Member may designate in writing any person as a person authorized to issue a permit referred to in subsection (1).
 - (3) A permit issued pursuant to this section may contain any terms or conditions that the issuer considers appropriate.
 - (4) A permit shall not be issued under this section unless the issuer is satisfied that the manner of transporting the dangerous goods provides a level of safety at least equivalent to that provided by compliance with this Act and the regulations.
 - (5) Notice of the issuance of every permit shall be published in the Yukon Gazette.

- No person shall transport any dangerous goods in a vehicle on a highway unless
 - (a) all applicable prescribed safety requirements are complied with, and
 - (b) the vehicle and all containers and packaging in it comply with all applicable prescribed safety standards and display all applicable prescribed safety marks.

7. No person shall

- (a) put any prescribed safety mark on any container, packaging or vehicle used or intended for use in the transportation of dangerous goods, or
- (b) deliver or distribute any container, packaging or vehicle used or intended for use in the transportation of dangerous goods on which any prescribed safety mark is displayed.

unless the container, packaging or vehicle complies with the prescribed safety standards.

- 8. The Executive Council Member may require any person who engages in the transportation of dangerous goods to prepare, in the prescribed manner and circumstances, emergency plans for implementation in the event of any discharge, emission or escape of dangerous goods from any container, packaging or vehicle.
- 9. (1) Where any discharge, emission or escape of dangerous goods from any container, packaging or vehicle occurs, the person who, at that time, has the charge, management or control of the dangerous goods shall, in the prescribed manner and circumstances, report the discharge, emission or escape.
 - (2) Every person required to make a report under subsection (1) shall, as soon as possible in the circumstances, take all reasonable emergency measures consistent with public safety to repair or remedy any dangerous condition or reduce or mitigate any danger to life, health, property or the environment that results or may reasonably and probably be expected to result from the discharge, emission or escape.

- (3) Where an inspector is satisfied on reasonable and probable grounds that a discharge, emission or escape referred to in subsection (1) has occurred and that immediate action is necessary in order to carry out any reasonable emergency measures referred to in subsection (2), the inspector may take such measures or the inspector may request that such measures be taken by any person the inspector considers qualified to do so.
- (4) Any inspector or other person required, requested or authorized to take reasonable emergency measures pursuant to subsection (2) or (3) may enter and have access to any place or property and may do all reasonable things in order to comply with those subsections or either of them.
- (5) Any person requested to act under subsection (3) is not personally liable either civility or criminally in respect of any act or emission in that the course of complying with the respect unless it is shown that the person did not act reasonably in the circumstances.
- 10. A shipping document or safety mark appearing on any container, packaging or vehicle is prima facie evidence of the contents of that container, packaging or vehicle.
- 11. The Executive Council Member may designate any person as an analyst for the purposes of this Act.
- 12. (1) The Executive Council Member may designate any person as an inspector for the purposes of this Act.
 - (2) An inspector shall be furnished with a certificate of designation stating the purposes, classes of dangerous goods and vehicles in respect of which the inspector has been designated.
 - (3) Un entering or inspecting any container, packaging or vehicle, the inspector shall, if so requested, produce the certificate to the person in charge thereof.
- 13. (1) For the purpose of ensuring compliance with this Act and the regulations, an inspector may, at any time, stop and inspect any vehicle and its load where he or she believes on reasonable and probable grounds that dangerous goods are: being transported, and open and inspect any container, packaging or vehicle wherein or whereby he or she believes that the dangerous goods are being transported.

- (2) In the course of an inspection pursuant to subsection (1), an inspector may
 - (a) for the purpose of analysis, take samples of anything that he or she believes on reasonable and probable grounds to be dangerous goods, and
 - (b) examine, make copies of and take extracts from any books, records, shipping documents or things that he or she believes on reasonable and probable grounds contain any information relevant to the administration or enforcement of this Act or the regulations.
- (3) The owner or person who has the charge, management or control of any container, packaging or vehicle inspected pursuant to this section shall give the inspector all reasonable assistance in his or her power to enable the inspector to carry out the inspector's duties pursuant to this Act or the regulations.
- 14. (1) Where an inspector is satisfied on reasonable and probable grounds that
 - (a) any discharge, emission or escape of dangerous goods from any container, packaging or vehicle transporting the dangerous goods is occurring, or has occurred,
 - (b) any serious and imminent danger of a discharge, emission or escape referred to in paragraph (a) exists, or
 - (c) any safety provision of this Act or the regulations is being or has been contravened,

the inspector may detain any dangerous goods, container, packaging or vehicle in respect of which the condition has arisen or the contravention has occurred.

- (2) Any property detained under this section shall be released when
 - (a) the provisions of this Act and the regulations have, in the opinion of the inspector, been complied with, or
 - (b) the danger to life, health, property or the environment has, in the opinion of the inspector, been prevented or adequately reduced.
 - as the case may be.
- (3) Any property detained pursuant to this section remains the responsibility of the owner or person who has the charge, management or control of the property at the time that it is detained.

- 15. Any dangerous goods that on reasonable and probable grounds appear to an inspector to be abandoned or to have deteriorated and to be a danger to persons, property or the environment may be destroyed or otherwise disposed of by the inspector in such manner as is appropriate in the circumstances.
- No person shall, while an inspector is exercising powers or carrying out duties under this Act,
 - (a) fail to comply with any reasonable request of the inspector,
 - (b) knowingly make any false or misleading statement, verbal or written, to the inspector,
 - (c) unless authorized by the inspector, remove, alter or interfere in any way with anything detained or removed by the inspector. or
 - (d) otherwise obstruct or hinder the inspector.
- 17. (1) Where an inspector inspects, detains or takes a sample of anything under this Act, the inspector shall, if the thing is sealed or closed up, provide the person in charge thereof with a certificate in the prescribed form evidencing the inspection, detention or taking of a sample, as the case may be.
 - (2) A certificate provided under this section relieves the person to whom or for whose benefit it is provided of liability with respect to the inspection or taking of a sample evidenced by the certificate, but it does not otherwise exempt that person from compliance with this Act and the regulations.
- 18. (1) Subject to subsections (3) and (4), a certificate or report purporting to have been signed by an inspector or analyst stating that he or she has inspected, analysed or examined a vehicle, packaging, container, shipping document, product, substance, or organism and stating the results of the inspection, analysis or examination, is admissible in evidence in any prosecution for an offence against this Act or the regulations as prima facie proof of the statements contained in the certificate or report without proof of the signature or official character of the person appearing to have signed the certificate or report.

- (2) Subject to subsections (3) and (4), a copy or an extract taken by an inspector pursuant to paragraph 13(2)(b) and appearing to have been certified under his signature as a true copy or extract is admissible in evidence in any prosecution for an offence against this Act or the regulations without proof of the signature or official character of the person appearing to have signed the copy or extract and, in the absence of any evidence to the contrary, has the same probative force as the original document would have if it had been proved in the ordinary way.
- (3) The party against whom a certificate or report is produced pursuant to subsection (1) or against whom a copy or an extract is produced pursuant to subsection (2) may, with the leave of the court, require the attendance of the inspector or analyst who signed or appears to have signed the certificate, report, copy or extract for the purposes of cross-examination.
- (4) No certificate, report, copy or extract referred to in subsection (1) or (2) shall be received in evidence unless the party intending to produce it has served on the party against whom it is intended to be produced a notice of such intention together with a auplicate of the certificate, report, copy or extract.
- 19. (1) Every person who contravenes section 6 or 7 commits an offence and is liable on summary conviction to a fine of not more than \$50,000 in the case of a first offence and to a fine of not more than \$100,000 for each subsequent offence, to imprisonment for a term of not more than two years, or to both such fine and imprisonment.
 - (2) Every person who contravenes any provision of this Act or the regulations for which no other punishment is provided by this Act commits an offence and is liable on summary conviction to a fine of not more than \$10,000, to imprisonment for a term of not more than one year, or to both such fine and imprisonment.
- 20. (1) The Government of Yukon may recover the cost and expenses of and incidental to the taking of any measures pursuant to sections 9 or 15 jointly and severally from any persons who, through their fault or negligence or that of others for whom they are by law responsible, caused or contributed to the circumstances giving rise to the taking of action under those sections, to the extent that such costs and expenses can be established to have been reasonably incurred in the circumstances.

- (2) All claims pursuant to this section may be sued for and recovered by the Government of Yukon with costs in proceedings brought or taken therefor in the name of the Government of Yukon in the Supreme Court.
- (3) Nothing in this section shall be construed as Finiting or restricting any right of recourse or indemnity that any person who is liable under subsection (1) may have against any other person.
- (4) No civil remedy for any act or emission is suspended or effected by reason only that the Act or emission is an offence under this Act or gives rise to liability under this section.
- (5) No proceedings in respect of a claim under this section may be instituted after two years from the day the events in respect of which the proceedings are brought or taken occurred or became evident.
- 21. In any prosecution for an offence against this Act or the regulations, it is a defence for the person charged to prove that he or she took all reasonable measures to comply with this Act and the regulations.
- 22. In any prosecution for an offence against this Act or the regulations, it is sufficient proof of the offence to establish that it was committed by an employee or agent of the accused, whether or not the employee or agent is identified or has been prosecuted for the offence, unless the accused establishes that the offence was committed without the knowledge of the accused and that the accused took all reasonable measures to prevent its commission.
- 23. Every officer, director or agent of a corporation who directs, authorizes, assents to, acquiesces in or participates in the commission of an offence against this Act or the regulations is a party to and guilty of the offence and liable on summary conviction to the punishment provided for the offence, whether or not the corporation has been prosecuted or convicted.
- 24. No prosecution for an offence against this Act or the regulations is to be commenced after two years from the day of the commission of the alleged offence.

- 25. (1) The Commissioner in Executive Council may enter into agreements with any municipal or provincial government or the Government of Canada with respect to the administration and enforcement of this Act and the regulations, the federal Act, or legislation of any other province that deals with the handling or transporting of dangerous goods.
 - .(2) An agreement entered into under subsection (1) may provide for any matters necessary for or incidental to the implementation, administration or enforcement agreed on or for the apportionment of any costs, expenses or revenues arising therefrom.
- 26. (1) Where the Executive Council Member considers it necessary for the protection of the public, property or the environment, the Executive Council Member may, in respect of any matter not provided for in this Act, and in accordance with the regulations, direct any person engaged in the transportation of dangerous goods to cease any activity or to carry it on in any manner consistent with the intention of this Act.
 - (2) A direction under subsection (1) shall be confirmed in writing by the Executive Council Member within 24 hours after it is made, and it shall be published in the Yukon Gazette.
 - (3) Any person who receives a directive pursuant to subsection (1) may apply to have the decision reviewed or appeal the decision in the manner set out in the regulations, but that person shall comply with the directive until the review or appeal is finally determined.
- 27. The Executive Council Member may, subject to any regulations, require any person who engages in or proposes to engage in the transportation of dangerous goods or any class of dangerous goods to provide evidence of financial responsibility in the form of insurance or an indemnity bond, or in any other form satisfactory to the Executive Council Member.
- 28. The Crown is bound by this Act.
- 29. (1) The Commissioner in Executive Council may make regulations
 - (a) prescribing classes, divisions, subdivisions and groups of dangerous goods;
 - (b) prescribing products, substances and organisms to be included in the prescribed classes of dangerous goods;

- (c) specifying, for each product, substance and organism, the class, division, subdivision or group into which it falls:
- (d) determining or providing the manner of determining the class, division, subdivision or group into which any dangerous goods fall;
- (e) exempting from the application of any provision of this Act or the regulations the transportation of dangerous goods in any quantities or concentrations, in any circumstances, for any purposes or in any containers, packaging or vehicles as are specified in the regulations;
- (f) prescribing the manner of identifying any quantities or concentrations of dangerous goods exempted pursuant to paragraph (e);
- (g) prescribing the manner of application for the issuance of a permit under section 5;
- (h) prescribing circumstances in which the transportation of dangerous goods is prohibited;
- (i) specifying dangerous goods that shall not be transported in any circumstances;
- (j) prescribing safety marks, safety requirements and safety standards of general or particular application;
- (k) prescribing shipping documents and other documents to be used in the transportation of dangerous goods, the information to be included in those documents and the persons by whom and manner in which those documents are to be used and retained;
- prescribing forms for the purposes of this Act and the regulations;
- (m) respecting the circumstances and manner in which emergency plans referred to in section 8 shall be prepared;
- (n) respecting the circumstances and manner in which the report of any discharge, emission or escape of dangerous goods referred to in section 9 shall be made and designating the person to whom such a report shall be made;
- (o) prescribing the circumstances in which fees are or are not payable for inspections under this Act and determining the amount of those fees;
- (p) respecting the qualifications, training and examination of inspectors, prescribing the forms of the certificates referred in sections 12 and 17, and prescribing the manner in which inspectors shall carry out their duties under this Act;

- (q) respecting the notice of direction and the effect, duration, review and appeal of directives mentioned in section 26:
- (r) respecting evidence of financial responsibility of any person engaged in or proposing to engage in the transportation of dangerous goods or any class of dangerous goods;
- (s) respecting the form, amount, nature, class, terms and conditions of insurance or bond that, under section 27, may be required to be provided and carried by persons or classes of persons while transporting dangerous goods in a vehicle or a class of vehicle on a highway;
- (t) generally, respecting any matter the Commissioner in Executive Council considers necessary to carry the purposes and provisions of this Act into effect.
- (2) Any regulation made under subsection (1) may adopt by reference, in whole or in part, with any changes that the Commissioner in Executive Council considers necessary, any code, standard or regulation made by the Government of Canada, and may require compliance with any code, standard or regulation so adopted.
- 30. This Act or any provision of this Act comes into force on a day or days to be fixed by the Commissioner in Executive Council.

AN ACT TO AMEND THE ELECTIONS ACT

(Assented to October 28, 1985)

The Commissioner of the Yukon Territory, by and with the advice and consent of the Legislative Assembly, enacts as follows:

- (1) This Act amends the Elections Act.
- (1) In Paragraph 18(1)(c) the expression "six months" is substituted for the expression "twelve months".
- 3. (1) This Act comes into force on the date of Assent and shall remain in force until April 1, 1986.

- 46 -

AN ACT TO AMEND THE EMPLOYMENT STANDARDS ACT

(Assented to October 23, 1985)

- 1. This Act amends the Employment Standards Act.
- 2. The following is substituted for section 17:
 - "17. Subject to this Part, an employer shall pay to each employee who is 17 years of age or over a wage at the rate of not less than the rate established by the Employment Standards Board pursuant to section 18 or not less than the equivalent of that rate for the time worked by the employee."
- In paragraph 18(1)(a), the expression "on the basis of time, the minimum wage" is substituted for the expression "the minimum hourly wage".
- 4. (1) Subsection 76(5) is repealed.
 - (2) The following is substituted for subsection 76(6):
 - "(6) Where a certificate has been issued under subsection (3), the director shall forthwith serve the employer and each employee named in the certificate with a notice setting out
 - (a) the amount of wages shown in the certificate that is owed or will become owing by the employer to the employee,
 - (b) the date on which the certificate was issued, and
 - (c) that if the employer or any employee named in the certificate desires to dispute or disagree with any amount shown in the certificate he or she may, within 14 days after the notice is served on him or her, appeal to the Employment Standards Board."

- (3) The following subsections are added immediately after subsection 76(6):
 - "(7) The director may file a certificate issued under subsection (3) in the office of the clerk of the Supreme Court where
 - (a) the time for appealing to the board under section 77 has expired and no such appeal has been filed with the board, or
 - (b) an appeal to the board under section 77 has been finally disposed of, with or without a further appeal to the court as provided in that section.
 - (8) Where a certificate has been amended on appeal under section 77, the certificate shall not be filed under subsection (7) unless it shows the amendment.
 - (9) A certificate filed in the office of the clerk of the Supreme Court under subsection (7) shall be deemed to be a judgment of the court in favour of an employee named therein and may be enforced as a judgment of the court by the employee or by the director on behalf of the employee against the employer for the amount shown in the certificate."
- 5. (1) In subsection 77(1),
 - (a) the expression "issued in accordance with subsection 76(3)" is substituted for the expression, "filed in accordance with subsection 76(5)", and
 - (b) the word "issuance" is substituted for the word "filling".
 - (2) In subsection 77(6), the word "application" is substituted for the word "notice".
- 5. The following subsections are substituted for subsections 79(2) to (4):
 - "(2) Where wages that are owed to an employee by an employer that is a corporation are due and unpaid after 30 days from the date on which a certificate in respect of the unpaid wages is filed in the office of the clerk of the Supreme Court under section 76, the director may issue, against one or more of the directors of the corporation who, in the opinion of the director, are liable under subsection (1) for the unpaid wages of the employee named in the certificate, a supplementary certificate showing the amount of wages owed to the employee.

- (3) Where a supplementary certificate is issued under subsection (2), the director shall forthwith serve the directors of the corporation against whom it is directed with a notice setting out
 - (a) the amount of wages shown in the certificate that is owed to the employee,
 - (b) the date on which the certificate was issued, and
 - (c) a statement to the effect that if any person named in the certificate desires to dispute or disagree with any amount shown in the certificate he or she may, within 14 days after the notice is served on him or her, appeal to the Employment Standards Board.
- (4) The director may file a supplementary certificate issued under subsection (2) in the office of the clerk of the Supreme Court where
 - (a) the time for appealing to the board under section 77 has expired and no such appeal has been filed with the board, or
 - (b) an appeal to the board under section 77 has been finally disposed of, with or without a further appeal to the court as provided in that section.
- (4.1)A certificate filed under subsection (4) shall be accompanied by
 - (a) a copy of the original certificate setting out the date on which notice of its issuance was served on the employer.
 - (b) a statement to the effect that wages in a stated amount are due and unpaid by the employer after 30 days from the date on which the original certificate was filed, and
 - (c) a list of the directors of the corporation who, in the opinion of the director, are liable under subsection (1) for the unpaid wages of the employee named in the certificate.
- (4.2)Subsections 76(8) and (9), sections 77 and 78, and sections 80 to 85 apply, with the necessary changes, to supplementary certificates filed under subsection (2)."

- 7. The following is substituted for subsection 81(6):
 - "(6) A certificate issued pursuant to subsection (5) may be filed in the office of the clerk of the Supreme Court pursuant to subsection 76(7), and the other provisions of that section and this section, and the provisions of sections 78, 80, 83, 84 and 85 apply in respect of the certificate."
- 8. The following subsections are added to section 97:
 - "(3) This section applies to the following public works:
 - (a) building construction;
 - (b) heavy construction;
 - (c) road, sewer and watermain construction.
 - (4) In this section,

'building construction' means the construction, remodelling and repair of buildings;

'heavy construction' means such work as, but not limited to, site preparation, excavation, electric transmission lines, marine works, bridges, viaducts, tunnels and dams; 'road, sewer and watermain construction' means clearing and preparing a right of way, excavation and subgrading, laying a granular base, grading and asphalt and concrete paving and includes

- (a) the operation of on-site plants to service such construction,
- (b) the installation of drainage,
- (c) landscaping,
- (d) the demolition of structures within or affected by a right of way, and
- (e) all other work involved in
 - (i) the construction, reconstruction and maintenance of roads, highways, streets, sidewalks, curbs, parking lots, driveways, airport runways, airport taxi strips and aircraft parking aprons, and
 - (ii) the installation, reinstallation and maintenance of sewers and watermains."

- (1) The following subsections are substituted for subsections 99(3) and (4):
 - "(3) On receipt of a copy of an order, judgment or certificate for the payment of wages
 - (a) certified by the court in which the order, judgment or certificate is registered, or
 - (b) where there is no provision in the reciprocating province for registration in a court of the order, judgment or certificate, certified to be a true copy by the designated enforcement authority,

and on being satisfied that the wages are still owing, the director shall issue a certificate showing the amount owing and file it in the office of the clerk of the Supreme Court.

(4) Upon being filed under subsection (3), the certificate shall be deemed to be a judgment of the Supreme Court in favour of an employee named therein and may be enforced as a judgment of the court by the employee or by the Director on behalf of the employee for the amount shown in the certificate."

11

AN ACT TO AMEND THE ENERGY CONSERVATION ASSISTANCE ACT

(Assented to October 23, 1985)

- 1. This Act amends the Energy Conservation Assistance Act.
- 2. Subsection 3(1) is amended
 - (a) by adding the word "and" to the end of paragraph (b),
 - (b) by striking out the word "and" at the end of paragraph(c), and
 - (c) by striking out paragraph (d).
- 3. The following new sections are added immediately after section 3:
 - "3.1 (1) The Executive Council Member may make loans to the eligible owners of commercial or institutional premises so as to help those owners improve the thermal efficiency of those premises.
 - (2) The amount of a loan made under subsection (1) may not exceed the maximum prescribed by the Commissioner in Executive Council.
 - (3) A loan under subsection (1) shall be made subject to such conditions as are prescribed by the Commissioner in Executive Council.
 - 4.1 A person is eligible to receive a loan under subsection 4(1) where
 - (a) the person owns the commercial or institutional premises in respect of which the loan is made,
 - (b) the person has already been granted whatever financial assistance may be available in respect of the thermal efficiency of those premises under any program of the Government of Canada, and

- (c) those premises are continuously occupied for the purpose of conducting business, or continuously available for occupancy by a tenant of the owner."
- 4. In paragraph 4(a), the expression "subsection 2(1) or 4(1)" is substituted for the expression "subsection 2(1)".
- 5. (1) In subsection 5(1),
 - (a) the expression "grants and loans" is substituted for the word "grants", and
 - (b) the expression "discovering, developing or" is substituted ed for the expression "discovering or in".
 - (2) In subsection 5(2), the expression "grants and loans" is substituted for the word "grants".
 - (3) In subsection 5(3), the expression "grant or loan" is substituted for the word "grant".
- 6. In section 6, the expression "grant or loan" is substituted for the word "grant".

AN ACT TO AMEND THE FINANCIAL ADMINISTRATION ACT

(Assented to October 23, 1985)

The Commissioner of the Yukon Territory, by and with the advice and consent of the Legislative Assembly, enacts as follows:

- 1. This Act amends the Financial Administration Act.
- 2. The following subsection is added to section 4:
 - "(1.1) The Commissioner in Executive Council may appoint members of the Executive Council as alternate members of the Management Board who may serve as such only in the absence of the member or members whose alternate they are designated to be."
- 3. In paragraph 45(1)(d), the figure "\$2,850,000" is substituted for the figure "\$2,000,000".

- 54 -

FINANCIAL AGREEMENT ACT, 1985-88

(Assented to October 23, 1985)

The Commissioner of the Yukon Territory, by and with the advice and consent of the Legislative Assembly, enacts as follows:

- 1. (1) This Act may be cited as the Financial Agreement Act, 1985-88.
- 2. (1) In this Act,

"base period" means the 1982-83 fiscal year;

"base period rates" means the tax revenue and recovery rates in effect as of March 31, 1985;

"base period gross expenditures" means the sum of various grants from the Government of Canada, transfer payments, recoveries by and revenues of the Government of Yukon, and base year adjustments agreed upon by those governments:

"eligible revenues" means the sum of transfer payments received by the Government of Yukon, and hypothetical Yukon revenues and recoveries, but does not include an item of revenue or recovery that the Governments of Canada and of Yukon agree should be excluded;

"fiscal year" means the period of 12 months commencing on April 1 and ending March 31 of March next following:

"formula financing" means a fixed tax rate formula funding mechanism used to calculate the grant to Yukon;

"grant" means the payment by the Government of Canada to the Government of Yukon referred to in the Federal Estimates for the 1985-86, 1986-87 and 1987-88 fiscal years on which vote 35 is based;

"growth rate of provincial local expenditures" means a three year moving average of the annual percentage change in the aggregate of municipal and provincial government expenditures;

"hypothetical Yukon revenues and recoveries" means the yield of base period rates applied to the current bases of Government of Yukon revenues and recoveries.

- 3. (1) The Commissioner in Executive Council is authorized to make on behalf of the Government of Yukon agreements with the Government of Canada under which the Government of Canada will pay to the government of Yukon in respect of the 1985-86, 1986-87, and 1987-88 fiscal years a grant based on formula financing so that the grant will represent the difference between
 - (a) base period gross expenditures escalated by the growth rate of provincial local expenditures, and
 - (b) eligible revenues.
 - (2) The agreements may be signed on behalf of the Commissioner in Executive Council and Government of Yukon by the Executive Council Member.
 - (3) The Commissioner in Executive Council is empowered to do every act and exercise every power required for the purpose of fulfilling every obligation assumed by the Government of Yukon under the agreement.
- 4. This Act shall be deemed to have come into force on May 10, 1985.

FINE OPTION ACT

(Assented to October 23, 1985)

The Commissioner of the Yukon Territory, by and with the advice and consent of the Legislative Assembly, enacts as follows:

- 1. This Act may be cited as the Fine Option Act.
- 2. In this Act,

"enactment" has the same meaning as in the Interpretation $\mbox{Act};$

"fine option program" means a program established under subsection 3(1);

"fine option supervisor" means a person designated as such by the Executive Council Member.

- 3. (1) The Commissioner in Executive Council shall establish a program for the purpose of enabling offenders, other than corporations or other bodies corporate, against whom a fine is imposed in respect of an offence may discharge the fine in whole or in part by earning credits for work performed.
 - (2) The Commissioner in Executive Council shall, upon the establishment of the fine option program, determine the rate at which credits are earned and may provide for the manner of crediting any amounts earned against the fine and any other matters necessary for or incidental to the carrying-out of the program.
- 4. (1) The fine option program established under this Act shall be deemed to have been established for the purposes of section 646.1 of the Criminal Code (Canada) as well as for purposes relating to fines imposed in respect of offences against enactments.
 - (2) Credits earned for work performed as provided by this Act shall, for the purposes of all enactments, be deemed to be payment of a fine.

- 5. The Executive Council Member may designate persons to be fine option supervisors for the purposes of this Act to perform such functions and exercise such authority in respect of the fine option program as may be provided by the Commissioner in Executive Council.
- 6. Where a person upon whom a fine has been imposed under an enactment or under an Act of Canada elects to participate in the fine option program and fails or refuses to observe the terms and conditions of the program, the person's participation in the program may be terminated by a fine option supervisor.
- 7. Where a person is participating in the fine option program,
 - (a) the Employment Standards Act does not apply to the person, and
 - (b) the person's compensation and other benefits, if any, for work performed shall consist exclusively of whatever the fine option program provides.
- 8. The Commissioner in Executive Council may make regulations
 - (a) prescribing guidelines, terms and conditions for the fine option program;
 - (b) :concerning the amount or rate of credits to be applied against fines;
 - (c) concerning any liability insurance coverage;
 - (d) concerning provisions for dealing with convicted persons who, because of physical or mental handicap, are unable to participate normally in the fine option program;
 - (e) providing for the participation of community agencies, band councils, service clubs, church groups, inmate self-help organizations, municipal councils and other groups in the carrying-out of the fine option program;
 - (f) providing for any other matter that may be necessary for carrying the purposes and provisions of this Act into effect.
- This Act comes into force on a day to be fixed by the Commissioner in Executive Council.

FIRST APPROPRIATION ACT, 1986-87

(Assented to October 23, 1985)

Whereas it appears by message from the Commissioner and in the estimates accompanying the message that the sums mentioned in Schedule "A" of this Act are required for the purpose of defraying certain expenses of the public service of Yukon and for related purposes for the period of 12 months ending on March 31, 1987;

- 1. (1) This Act may be cited as the First Appropriation Act, 1986-87.
- 2. (1) From and out of the Yukon Consolidated Revenue Fund there may be paid and applied a sum not exceeding in the whole \$80,935,000 for defraying the several charges and expenses of the public service of Yukon payable in the period of 12 months ending on March 31, 1987, as set forth in Schedule "A" of this Act and that sum shall not be paid or applied except in accordance with Schedule "A" the Financial Administration Act, and, subject to that Act, the estimates accompanying the message from the Commissioner.
- 3. (1) The due application of all monies paid or applied pursuant to section 2 shall be accounted for.

'FIRST APPROPRIATION ACT, 1986-87

SCHEDULE A

Capital Votes		\$(Dollars in 000's)
02	Executive Council Office	·21
.09	Community and Transportation Services	38,122
07	Economic Development: Mines and Small	
	Business	7,417
03	Education	17,161
16	'Government 'Services	6,394
05	Health and Human Resources	3,352
80	Justice	4,179
14	Renewable Resources	1,507
13	Tourism	2,782
	TOTAL	80,935
		=====

AN ACT TO AMEND THE FUEL OIL TAX ACT

(Assented to October 23, 1985)

- This Act amends the Fuel Oil Tax Act.
- The following definitions are added to section 2: "'coloured diesel fuel' means diesel fuel to which a dye or chemical marker has been added in accordance with this Act; 'coloured gasoline' means gasoline to which a dye or chemical marker has been added in accordance with this Act; 'coloured heating oil' means heating oil to which a dye or chemical marker has been added in accordance with this Act;".
- The expression "Subject to section 5" is added to the beginning of section 3.
- (1) The expression "Subject to section 5" is added to the beginning of subsection 4(1).
 - (2) Paragraph 4(1)(a) is amended by striking out the expression "heating or".
 - (3) The expression "Subject to section 5" is added to the beginning of subsection 4(2).
- 5. (1) The following are substituted for subsections 5(1) and (2):
 - "5. (1) No tax under this Act is payable on fuel oil purchased for use, and subsequently consumed, as follows:
 - (a) for lubricating;
 - (b) for laying or sprinkling on roads or streets;
 - (c) as cleaning fluids or solvents;
 - (d) for pharmaceutical or medical purposes;
 - (e) for cooking;
 - (f) for space heating of buildings.

- (2) No tax under this Act is payable on liquified petroleum gas used for any purpose."
- (2) The following is substituted for subsection 5(5)
 - "(5) No tax is payable under this Act on coloured diesel fuel or coloured gasoline purchased for use and subsequently consumed by the holder of a permit issued under section 5.2 for the purpose for which the permit was issued."
- 6. (1) The following new sections are added immediately after section 5:
 - "5.1 (1) The Commissioner in Executive Council may make regulations providing for the colouring of gasoline, diesel fuel or heating oil for the purposes of this Act by means of the addition of a dye or chemical marker.
 - (2) Unless authorized by the regulations, no person shall colour gasoline, diesel fuel or heating oil any colour that has been prescribed for the purposes of this Act under subsection (1).
 - 5.2 (1) The Executive Council Member may issue permits to persons authorizing them to possess and use coloured diesel fuel or coloured gasoline for stationary generators of electricity.
 - (2) The Executive Council Member may issue permits to persons authorizing them to possess and use coloured diesel fuel or coloured gasoline for the following commercial purposes otherwise than on roads maintained entirely with public money by the Government of Canada, the Government of Yukon or a municipality:
 - (a) fishing;
 - (b) logging;
 - (c) hunting or outfitting;
 - (d) trapping;
 - (e) mining, including mining exploration and development;
 - (f) farming.
 - (3) A permit may be issued under subsection (2) only in respect of activities conducted with the intention of earning income in accordance with such laws of Canada or Yukon as may be applicable.

- 5.3 (1) Coloured diesel fuel and coloured gasoline used by a person to whom a permit has not been issued, or used for a purpose in respect of which a permit is not issuable under section 5.2, remain taxable under the other provisions of this Act.
 - (2) Coloured heating oil used by a person for a purpose other than the space heating of buildings remains taxable under the other provisions of this Act.
- 5.4 (1) No person shall possess coloured diesel fuel or coloured gasoline unless
 - (a) the person is the holder of a permit issued under section 5.2, or
 - (b) the person is a vendor or distributor and the diesel fuel or gasoline is in the possession of the person for the purpose of resale by the person.
 - (2) No person shall use coloured heating oil for a purpose other than the space heating of buildings.
- 5.5 In every prosecution under this Act, a certificate of analysis purporting to be furnished by the person in charge of a laboratory maintained by a university, by the Government of Yukon, by the Government of Canada or by the government of another province, or signed by the person acting in the place of the person so in charge, is admissible in evidence as prima facie proof of the facts stated in it and is conclusive proof of the authority of the person signing the statement without proof of his or her appointment or signature."
- 7. Subsection 7(1) is amended by striking out the expression "or for heating".

FUNERAL DIRECTORS ACT

(Assented to October 23, 1985)

The Commissioner of the Yukon Territory, by and with the advice and consent of the Legislative Assembly, enacts as follows:

- 1. This Act may be cited as the Funeral Directors Act.
- 2. In this Act,

"embalming" means the preservation of the dead human body, entire or in part, by any means including the use of chemical substances, fluids or gases ordinarily used, prepared or intended for such purpose, either by the outward application of such chemical substances, fluids or gases on the body or by introduction thereof into the body by vascular or hypodermic injection, or by direct application into the organs or cavities;

"funeral director" means a person who is registered under this Act as a funeral director;

"funeral services" means the services usually provided by a funeral director;

"funeral services establishment" means premises established or maintained for the purpose of providing funeral services or funeral supplies to the public;

"registrar" means the registrar designated pursuant to section 4.

- 3. (1) No person shall engage in or hold himself or herself out as engaging in the provision of funeral services or funeral supplies to the public for a fee or other reward, or in hope or expectation thereof, unless the person is a funeral director.
 - (2) No person other than a funeral director shall perform embalming.

- (3) In a prosecution or any other proceeding under this Act, if it is proved that a person has provided funeral services or funeral supplies to the public for fee or other reward, or in hope or expectation thereof, or that the person has performed embalming, the burden of establishing a subsisting registration or licence under this Act rests on the person who alleges its existence.
- (4) Subsections (1) and (2) do not apply to a student within a training program who is working under the supervision of a funeral director who is physically present.
- 4. (1) The Executive Council Member shall designate a member of the public service to function as registrar of funeral directors.
 - (2) The registrar shall keep a register of funeral directors in which shall be entered the name of any person who applies for registration and is qualified under section 5 to be registered.
- Any person who has, with the prescribed standard of performance, completed a course of studies and training approved by the Commissioner in Executive Council, is qualified to be registered as a funeral director.
- 6. (1) A funeral director shall pay to the registrar such annual or other periodic fees as may be prescribed.
 - (2) A funeral director may not enforce against any person a contract in respect of the performance of any funeral services or the provision of any funeral supplies if the contract is made or the work is performed during a period in respect of which the funeral director has failed to pay the fee required by subsection (1), but such a contract is enforceable against the funeral director.
- 7. (1) The registrar may apply to a judge of the Supreme Court for, and the judge may grant, an injunction enjoining any person from continuing conduct that is in contravention of this Act or the regulations.
 - (2) Breach of an order under subsection (1) may be dealt with as a contempt of court.

- (3) Where a funeral director has acted with professional incompetence for that contravened any provision of this Act or the negulations, a judge of the Supreme Court may, tupon application of the registar,
 - (a) cancel the registration of the funeral director for such specified period of time as the judge thinks fit, or
 - (b) impose, for such specified period of time as the judge thinks fit, reasonable restrictions on the right of the funeral director to provide funeral services or funeral supplies to the public.
- (4) Breach of an order made under subsection (3) may be dealt with sas a contempt of court.
- (5) Where an order is made under subsection (3) by meason of the professional incompetence of the funeral director,
 - (a) the purpose of the order shall be the protection of existing and prospective clients rather than the punishment of the funeral director.
 - (b) the judge may include in the order reasonable stipulations about conditions or qualifications which, if met or achieved, will entitle the funeral director to an abridgement of the period of 'time for the cancellation or restriction, and
 - (c) where no stipulations as described in paragraph (b) are included in the order, the judge may, at any time subsequent to making the order and upon the application of the funeral director, abridge the period of time for the cancellation or restriction if the judge is satisfied that there has been a material change in the competence of the funeral director.
- (6) In this section, "professional incompetence" means unfitness to continue to provide funeral services or funeral supplies to the public by reason of having displayed a lack of the know-ledge, skill or judgment in providing funeral services for funeral supplies to the public that it is reasonable to expect of a funeral director.
- 8. Any person who contravenes a provision of this Act commits an offence and is liable on summary conviction to a fine of up to \$2,000 or to imprisonment for as long as six months, or both.

- 9. The Commissioner in Executive Council may make regulations
 - (a) prescribing courses of study and training which, if successfully completed with the required standard of performance, qualify a person for registration as a funeral director;
 - (b) prescribing the required standard of performance for successful completion of the courses of study and training referred to in paragraph (a);
 - (c) prohibiting or governing the sale of pre-arranged funeral plans and pre-paid funeral services;
 - (d) providing for any other matter necessary to carry into effect the purposes and provisions of this Act.

-3

.

AN ACT TO AMEND THE HOME OWNERS' GRANT ACT

(Assented to October 23, 1985)

The Commissioner of the Yukon Territory, by and with the advice and consent of the Legislative Assembly, enacts as follows:

- This Act amends the Home Owners' Grant Act. 1.
- 2. In paragraph 3(3)(a), the figure "\$350" is substituted for the figure "\$300".

- 68 -

AN ACT TO AMEND THE INCOME TAX ACT

(Assented to October 23, 1985)

The Commissioner of the Yukon Territory, by and with the advice and consent of the Legislative Assembly, enacts as follows:

- 1. (1) This Act amends the Income Tax Act.
- 2. (1) The following subsections are added to section 4:
 - "(2.1) For the 1982 taxation year, the tax payable by an individual described in paragraph 4(2)(a) for the year is the amount equal to the aggregate of
 - (a) the amount determined under subsection (2) for the 1982 taxation year, and
 - (b) an amount that bears the same relation to the product of the amount added under subsection 120.1(2) of the Federal Act for the year by the percentage specified in subsection (3) for the year that his income earned in the taxation year outside Yukon bears to his income for the year.
 - (2.2) For the 1982 taxation year, the tax payable by an individual described in paragraph 4(2)(b) for the year is the amount by which
 - (a) the amount determined under subsection (2) for the year ·

exceeds

(b) an amount that bears the same relation to the product of the amount added under subsection 120.1(2) of the Federal Act for the year by the percentage specified in subsection (3) for the year that his income earned in the taxation year in Yukon bears to his income for the year.

- (2.3) An individual to whom section 3 is applicable for a taxation year is deemed to have paid on account of his tax for the year an amount equal to the product of
 - (a) an amount that bears the same relation to the excess determined under subsection 120.1(4) of the Federal Act for the year that his income earned in the taxation year in Yukon bears to his income for the year

bу

- (b) the percentage specified in subsection (3) for the year."
- (2) The following is substituted for all that portion of clause 4(6)(b)(i) preceding subparagraph (A):
 - "(i) the aggregate of the taxpayer's income from sources in that country, excluding any portion thereof that was deductible by him under subparagraph 110(1)(f)(i) of the Federal Act,"
- (3) The following is substituted for all that portion of clause 4(6)(b)(ii) following subparagraph (B):

"minus any amount deductible by him under paragraph 110(1)(f), section 110.1, paragraph 111(1)(b) or section 112 of the Federal Act for the year or such period or periods, as the case may be."

- (4) The following subsection is added to section 4:
 - "(6.1) For the purpose of subsection (6), "tax payable" and "tax otherwise payable" mean the amount that would, but for section 120.1 of the Federal Act, be the tax otherwise payable under this Act."
- (5) Subsection 4(2.3) of the Income Tax Act, as enacted by subsection (1) of this Act, is applicable to the 1983 and subsequent taxation years.
- (6) Subsections (1) to (4) are applicable to the 1982 and subsequent taxation years.

3. (1) The following definition is added to section 5.1:

"tax otherwise payable" means the amount that would, but for section 120.1 of the Federal Act, be the tax otherwise payable under this Act."

- (2) Subsection (1) is applicable to the 1982 and subsequent taxation years.
- 4. (1) The following is substituted for all that portion of subsection 13(1) preceding paragraph (b):
 - "13.(1) Every person paying at any time in a taxation year (a) salary or wages or other remuneration,".
 - (2) The following is substituted for paragraph 13(1)(j):
 - "(j) a training allowance under the National Training Act
 (Canada),"
 - (3) The following is substituted for all that portion of subsection 13(1) following paragraph (k):
 - "(1) a payment out of or under a registered retirement income fund.
 - (m) an amount as a benefit under the Labour Adjustment Benefits Act (Canada), or
 - (n) one or more amounts to an individual who has elected for the year in prescribed form in respect of all such amounts,

shall deduct or withhold therefrom such amount as may be determined in accordance with prescribed rules and shall, at such time as may be prescribed, remit that amount to the Commissioner on account of the payer's tax of the year under this Act."

- (4) The following is substituted for subsection 13(4):
 - "(4) Where amounts have been deducted or withheld under this section from the remuneration or other payments received by an individual in a taxation year, if the total of such amounts is equal to or greater than three quarters of the tax payable for the year, he shall on or before April 30 in the next year, pay to the Commissioner the remainder of his tax for the year as estimated under section 11."

- (5) Subsections (1) and (4) are applicable after March 29, 1983.
- (6) Subsection (2) is applicable after August 1, 1982.
- (7) Subsection (3) is applicable after March 29, 1983 except that paragraph 13(1)(m) of the Income Tax Act, as enacted by subsection (3) of this Act is applicable to payments made after November 12, 1981 in respect of an office or employment that occurred on or before that date, and in such cases that paragraph shall be read as follows:
 - "(m) a termination payment".
- 5. The following is substituted for all that portion of subsection 14(1) preceding paragraph (a):
 - "14.(1) Every individual whose chief source of income is farming or fishing, other than an individual to whom subsection 13(4) applies, shall pay to the Commissioner".
- 6. (1) The following subsection is added to section 20:
 - "(7.1) Notwithstanding any other provision in this section, where the tax payable under this Act by a taxpayer for a taxation year is increased by virtue of an adjustment of an income or profits tax payable by him to the government of a country other than Canada or to the government of a state, province or other political subdivision of any such country, no interest is payable, in respect of such increase in his tax payable, for the period ending 90 days after the day on which he is first notified of the amount of the adjustment."
 - (2) Subsection (1) is applicable with respect to notifications made after 1980.
- 7. (1) The following is substituted for subsection 36(1):
 - "36(1) Where the Commissioner has knowledge or suspects that a person is or will be, within 90 days, liable to make payment to another person who is liable to make a payment under this Act (in this section referred to as the "tax debtor"), he may, by registered letter or by a letter served personally,

require that person to pay forthwith, where the money is immediately payable and, in any other case, as and when the money becomes payable, the money otherwise payable to the tax debtor in whole or in part to the Commissioner on account of the tax debtor's liability under this Act."

- (2) The following is substituted for subsection 36(1.1):
 - "(1.1) Without limiting the generality of subsection (1), where the Commissioner has knowledge or suspects that within 90 days
 - (a) a bank, credit union, trust company or other similar person (in this section referred to as the "institution") will loan or advance moneys to, or make a payment on behalf of, or make a payment in respect of a negotiable instrument issued by, a tax debtor who is indebted to the institution and who has granted security in respect of the indebtedness, or
 - (b) a person, other than an institution, will loan or advance moneys to, or make a payment on behalf of, a tax debtor who the Commissioner knows or suspects
 - (i) is employed by, or is engaged in providing services or property to that person or was or will be, within 90 days, so employed or engaged, or
 - (ii) where that person is a corporation, is not dealing arm's length with that person,

he may, by registered letter or by a letter served personally, require the institution or person, as the case may be, to pay in whole or in part to the Commissioner on account of the tax debtor's liability under this Act the money that would otherwise be so loaned, advanced or paid, and any money so paid to the Commissioner shall be deemed to have been loaned, advanced or paid, as the case may be, to the tax debtor."

- (3) The following is substituted for subsection 36(4.1):
 - "(4.1) Every institution or person that fails to comply with a requirement under subsection (1.1) with respect to money to be loaned, advanced or paid is liable to pay to Her Majesty for the benefit of Yukon an amount equal to the lesser of

- (a) the aggregate of moneys so loaned, advanced on paid, and
- (b) the amount that the institution or person was required under that subsection to pay to the Commissioner."
- (4) Subsections (1) to (3) are applicable after March 29, 1983.
- 8. (1) The following sections are added immediately after section 36:
 - "36.1 For the purpose of collecting debts owed by a person to Her Majesty for the benefit of Yukon under this Act, the Commissioner may purchase or otherwise acquire any interest in the person's property that the Commissioner is given a right to acquire in legal proceedings or under a court order or that is offered for sale on redemption, and may dispose of any interest so acquired in such a manner as he considers reasonable.
 - 36.2(1) Where the Commissioner has knowledge or suspects that a person is holding money that was seized by a police officer in the course of administering or enforcing the criminal law of Canada from another person who is liable to make a payment under this Act (in this section referred to as the "tax debtor") and that are restorable to the tax debtor, he may, by registered letter or by a letter served personally, require that person to turn over the money otherwise restorable to the tax debtor in whole or in part to the Commissioner on account of the tax debtor's liability under this Act.
 - (2) The receipt of the Commissioner for money turned over as required by this section is a good and sufficient discharge of the requirement to restore the money to the tax debtor to the extent of the amount so turned over."
 - (2) Subsection (1) is applicable after March 29, 1983.
- 9. (1) The following section is added immediately after section 39:
 - "39.1(1) Where a corporation has failed to deduct or withhold an amount as required by section 13 or has failed to remit such an amount, the directors of the corporation at the time the corporation was required to

deduct or withhold the amount, or remit the amount, are jointly and severally liable, together with the corporation, to pay any amount that the corporation is liable to pay under this Act in respect of that amount, including any interest or penalties related thereto.

- (2) A director is not liabile under subsection (1), unless
 - (a) a certificate for the amount of the corporation's liability referred to in that subsection has been registered in the court under subsection 34(2) and execution for such amount has been returned unsatisfied in whole or in part,
 - (b) the corporation has commenced liquidation or dissolution proceedings or has been dissolved and a claim for the amount of the corporation's liability referred to in that subsection has been proved within six months after the earlier of the date of commencement of the proceedings and the date of dissolution, or
 - (c) the corporation has made an assignment or a receiving order has been made against it under the Bankruptcy Act and a claim for the amount of the corporation's liability referred to in that subsection has been proved within six months after the date of the assignment or receiving order.
- (3) A director is not liable for a failure under subsection (1) where he exercised the degree of care, diligence and skill to prevent the failure that a reasonably prudent person would have exercised in comparable circumstances.
- (4) No action or proceedings to recover any amount payable by a director under subsection (1) shall be commenced more than two years after he last ceased to be a director of that corporation.
- (5) Where execution referred to in paragraph (2)(a) has issued, the amount recoverable from a director is the amount remaining unsatisfied after execution.

- (6) Where a director pays an amount in respect of a corporation's liability referred to in subsection (1) that is proved in liquidation, dissolution or bankruptcy proceedings, he is entitled to any preference that Her Najesty for the benefit of Yukon would have been entitled to had such amount not been so paid and, where a certificate that relates to such amount has been registered, he is entitled to an assignment of the certificate to the extent of his payment, which assignment the Commissioner is hereby empowered to make.
- (7) A director who has satisfied a claim under this section is entitled to contribution from the other directors who were liable for the claim."
- (2) Subsection (1) is applicable with respect to amounts required to be deducted and remitted, or withheld and remitted, after November 12, 1981.
- 10. (1) The following is substituted for subsection 39(8):
 - "(8) The Commissioner may assess any person for any amount that has been deducted or withheld by that person under the Act or a regulation or that is payable by that person under this section, section 39.1 or 44 and, upon his sending a notice of assessment to that person, Division I or J of the Federal Act is applicable, mutatis mutandis".
 - (2) Subsection (1) is applicable after November 12, 1981.

AN ACT TO AMEND THE INSURANCE ACT

(Assented to October 23, 1985)

- 1. (1) This Act amends the Insurance Act.
- 2. The following are substituted for subsections 24(2) and (3):
 - "(2) An insurer undertaking automobile liability insurance in Yukon shall be and remain a member of a facility association or a party to some other automobile insurance plan approved by the Commissioner in Executive Council to ensure a market for automobile insurance to all owners and licensed operators of automobiles, and shall comply with the requirements as to rates to be charged for business placed through the facility association or the other automobile insurance plan.
 - (3) Neither a facility association nor any other automobile insurance plan operating in Yukon shall refuse to allow business to be placed through it where the agent who submits the application for the business complies with the facility association's or the plan's reasonable articles of association, bylaws or other conditions or requirements in respect of the application and business, and an agent who submits an application for business to be placed through the Association or the plan shall comply with such articles, bylaws or other conditions or requirements.

- (3.1) A facility association and any automobile insurance plan approved by the Commissioner in Executive Council under subsection (2) shall each prepare rates in respect of business to be placed through the facility association or the plan and shall file those rates and their supporting statistical evidence and any other evidence relevant to determining the rates with the Superintendent at least 60 days prior to the introduction of the rates.
- (3.2) Within 60 days of rates being filed under subsection (1), the Superintendent shall either approve the rates so filed or, where he or she is of the opinion the rates are not in accordance with the statistical or other evidence, disallow the rates so filed.
- (3.3) A facility association and any other automobile insurance plan approved by the Commissioner in Executive Council may each, in its name, sue or be sued and be prosecuted for an offence.
- In connection with proceedings referred to in subsection (3.3), service of a document on the Superintendent shall be deemed to be service on a facility association or the other automobile insurance plan approved by the Commissioner in Executive Council, except that the time for the association or plan to respond to or comply with a direction in the document shall be deemed to run from the time when the Superintendent notifies the association or plan of the document, rather than from the time of service of the document on the Superintendent."
- 3. Paragraph 143(1)(b) is repealed.

AN ACT TO AMEND THE LEGAL PROFESSION ACT

(Assented to October 23, 1985)

- 1. This Act amends the Legal Profession Act.
- 2. (1) The following is substituted for the definition of "active member" in subsection 2(1):

 "'active member' means a member of the society in good standing who is entitled to practise law in Yukon under this Act;".
 - (2) Subsection 2(1) is amended by striking out the definitions of "bar admission course", "bar admission examination" and "inactive member".
 - (3) The following is substituted for the definition of "member" in subsection 2(1): "'member' means a member of the Law Society of Yukon but does not include an honorary member;".
 - (4) Paragraph 2(3)(b) is amended by striking out the expression "by a public servant or public officer, or".
 - (5) The following is substituted for paragraphs 2(3)(c) and (d): "(c) any act referred to in subsection (2) that is done by any of the following persons in their capacity as such and while not acting so as to hold themselves out to the public as a lawyer or as a member of the society:
 - (i) an employee or public officer of the Government of Yukon;
 - (ii) an employee or public officer of the Government of Canada.

- (6) The following subsection is added to section 2:
 - "(4) Persons referred to in subsection (2) shall be deemed to hold themselves out to the public as a lawyer or as a member of the society where their employer, or anyone acting on their behalf with their authorization, represents or implies to anyone else that they are a lawyer or a member of the society."
- (1) Paragraph 7(1)(g) is repealed.
 - (2) Paragraph 7(2)(c) is amended by striking out the expression "an inactive member or".
 - (3) Paragraph 7(2)(e) is repealed.
 - (4) Subsection 7(9) is repealed.
- 4. The following is substituted for section 9:
 - "9. (1) Subject to paragraph 5(1)(b), a person is not eligible for nomination and election to the executive unless he or she is an active member resident in Yukon.
 - (2) A person is not eligible for nomination or election to the position of vice-president (discipline) unless he or she has been engaged in the practice of law for at least seven years immediately preceding the date of his or her nomination."
- 5. The following is substituted for section 10:
 - "10. (1) To be eligible to vote at an election of the executive, a person must have been an active member in good standing for the period of thirty days immediately preceding the election.
 - (2) To be eligible to vote on any resolution or motion made at an annual or special general meeting of the society, a person must be an active member in good standing and the person must be personally present at the meeting.
- 6. The following is substituted for subsection 11(7):
 - "(7) Meetings of the executive shall be chaired by the president or, in his or her absence, by the vice-president (discipline), but if neither of them is present the meeting shall be chaired by another member of the executive designated by the president."

- 7. Section 18 is amended by striking out the expression "or inactive member status, according to his request".
- 8. (1) The following is substituted for subsection 21(1):
 - "21. (1) The following persons are qualified to apply for admission to the society and enrollment as members:
 - (a) any person who
 - (i) has been duly called to the bar of a province or has been admitted to practise as an attorney, advocate, barrister or solicitor in a province for a period of at least 12 consecutive months immediately preceding the date of application or such other period as may be prescribed by the rules,
 - (ii) is a member in good standing of the law society of the province in which he or she last practised as an attorney, advocate, barrister or solicitor and
 - (iii) has met all of the requirements for admission prescribed by the rules;
 - (b) any person who
 - (i) has, subject to subsection (2), completed 12 months service in Yukon under articles as a student-at-law approved by the executive,
 - (ii) has taken a bar admission course, if such a course is established by the rules.
 - (iii) has passed such bar admission examinations as may be prescribed by the rules.
 - (iv) is a graduate of a law school approved ed by the executive, and
 - (v) has met all of the requirements for admission prescribed by the rules;
 - (c) any person who
 - (i) has been duly called to the bar in a country that is a member of the Commonwealth of Nations,

- (ii) has been actively engaged in the practise of law in that jurisdiction for a period of not less than three years within the five years immediately preceding the date of application.
- (iii) has a legal education that is equivalent to graduation from a law school approved by the executive,
- (iv) has passed such bar examinations as may be prescribed by the rules, and
- (v) has met all the requirements for admission prescribed by the rules."
- (2) The following is substituted for subsection 21(3):
 - "(3) Every person who is qualified for admission and enrollment as a member under this section and who completes, to the satisfaction of the Executive, all of the requirements for admission and enrollment set out in the Act and the rules is entitled to be admitted to the society and enrolled as a member."
- (3) Subsection 21(5) is repealed.
- 9. In subsection 26(3), the expression "a maximum of" is substituted for the expression "at least".
- 10. In subsection 28(2), the expression "by a member of the public or of the society" is substituted for the expression "by a member".
- In subsection 30(2), the word "or" is deleted from the end of paragraph (b) and the following new paragraph is added immediately after paragraph (b):
 - "(b.1) Subject to the rules and with the consent of the member against whom the complaint was made, refer the matter without citation to two members of the discipline committee for review and disposition, or".
- 12. In subsection 43(1) the expression "or the society" is added immediately after the word "into".

- 13. (1) In subsection 48(1),
 - (a) the expression "the private practice of law in Yukon" is substituted for the expression "the private practice of law and", and
 - (b) paragraphs (a), (b) and (c) are repealed.
 - (2) The following subsection is added to section 48:
 - "(4) A member is not required to pay the annual assessment or any special assessment referred to in paragraph 47(1)(b) in respect of any property entrusted to or received by the member in his or her capacity as a member of the public service of Yukon or Canada or as a public officer."
- 14. The following are substituted for subsections 50(4) and (5):
 - "(4) Where a person qualifies under subsection (1) for reimbursement out of the special fund, the executive may, subject to subsection (3), pay out of the fund to that person the amount of his loss or such other amount as the executive may determine.
 - (5) The Executive may, in respect of the payment of an amount out of the special fund under this section, impose such reasonable terms and conditions as it considers necessary for the protection of the public and for the protection and reimbursement of the society.
 - (5.1) No payment shall be made out of the special fund in respect of any property referred to in subsection 48(4)."
- 15. (1) The following is substituted for paragraph 55(2)(b):
 - "(b) practises exclusively as an employee, for an employer who does not practise law, and does not practise on his or her own account apart from such employment;".
 - (2) In paragraph 55(2)(c), the expression "a corporation or" is struck out.
- 16. (1) Subsection 62(3) is repealed.
 - (2) The following is substituted for subsection 62(13):
 - "(13) A cheque drawn on a trust account shall be signed by at least one person who is a member of the society."

- (3) The following subsection is added to section 62:
 - "(17) No cheque drawn on a trust account shall be made payable either to cash or to bearer."
- 17. The following subsection is added to section 72:
 - "(8) Where a member's bill has been reviewed pursuant to subsection (1), the amount of the account allowed by the clerk or other officer shall become due and payable by the person from whom the payment of the account is claimed as if that amount were a judgment for a debt owing by order of the Supreme Court."
- 18. In subsection 77(1),
 - (a) the expression "or an appeal" is substituted for the expression "and an appeal", and
 - (b) the expression "or against the person" is substituted for the expression "but such an order shall not be made against a person".
- 19. In subsection 83(3), the expression "Section 86" is substituted for the expression "Section 83".
- 20. In paragraph 89(3)(f) the expression "issued voting shares" is substituted for the expression "issued shares".
- The Schedule is repealed.
- 22. (1) In the following provisions, the expression "special fund" is substituted for the expression "assurance fund": 7(3), 46(1), 47(1), 48(3), 49(1), 49(2), 49(3), 50(1), 50(4), 50(5), 50(6), 80(1) and 83(2).
 - (2) In the heading for Part 4, Division 1, the word "special" is substituted for the word "assurance".

LOAN GUARANTEE ACT, 1985

(Assented to October 23, 1985)

- 1. This Act may be cited as the Loan Guarantee Act, 1985.
- The Commissioner in Executive Council may guarantee an operating line of credit to be extended by the Toronto Dominion Bank to Curragh Resources with respect to the re-opening of the Anvil Mine.
- 3. The principal amount of the sums guaranteed under section 2 shall not exceed \$12,750,000 in the aggregate, plus up to 6 months' interest thereon after default and acceleration.
- 4. The term of the guarantee under section 2 shall not exceed 18 months from the time the guarantee is given, and no amount shall be paid by the Government of Yukon except in respect of demands properly made under the guarantee prior to the expiry of that 18 month period.
- (1) A sum may be paid and applied out of the Yukon Consolidated Revenue Fund at any time for the purpose of making payments under this Act.
 - (2) The due application of all money paid or applied pursuant to subsection (1) shall be accounted for.

AN ACT TO AMEND THE MATRIMONIAL PROPERTY AND FAMILY SUPPORT ACT

(Assented to October 23, 1985)

- (1) This Act amends the Matrimonial Property and Family Support Act.
- 2. (1) In subsection 32.1(1), the expression "a decision or order" is substituted for the expression "an order".
- 3. (2) The following subsections are added to section 32.1:
 - "(2) An appeal under subsection (1) shall be taken by notice of appeal given within 30 days from the date on which the decision or order against which the appeal is taken was given.
 - (3) The Supreme Court may grant an extension of time to appeal under subsection (1).
 - (4) The procedure for the conduct of an appeal under subsection (1) shall be, with such reasonable modifications directed by the Supreme Court as may be necessary, the same as for an appeal in the Court of Appeal.
 - (5) Upon hearing an appeal, the Supreme Court may affirm, reverse, or modify the order appealed against, and make such other auxiliary order as seems proper."

MISCELLANEOUS STATUTE LAW AMENDMENT ACT, 1985

(Assented to October 23, 1985)

- This Act may be cited as the Miscellaneous Statute Law Amendment Act, 1985.
- (1) In subsection 116(1) of the Children's Act, the expression "is alleged to have committed an offence" is substituted for the expression "commits an offence".
 - (2) In subsection 180(2) of the Children's Act, the expression "is or is by law required to be insured" is substituted for the expression "is insured".
- 3. In section 14 of the Compensation for Victims of Crime Act, the word "may" is substituted for the word "shall".
- 4. (1) In subsection 3(1) of the Constitutional Questions Act, the expression "in any of the proceedings referred to in paragraphs (a) and (b)" is substituted for the expression "in a proceeding".
 - (2) In paragraph 3(1)(a) of the Constitutional Questions Act, the expression "in the case of an enactment of Canada and a proceeding to which the Government of Canada, however named in the style of cause, is not already a party" is substituted for the expression "in the case of an enactment of Canada".
 - (3) In paragraph 3(1)(b) of the Constitutional Questions Act, the expression "in the case of a Yukon enactment and a proceeding to which the Government of Yukon, however named in the style of cause, is not already a party" is substituted for the expression "in the case of a Yukon enactment".

- (1) Section 2 of the Flag Act is amended by striking out the expression "and illustrated".
 - (2) The following subsection is added to section 2 of the Flag
 - "(2) A sample of the flag of Yukon, in coloured textile material, is on deposit in the offices of the Executive Council Member; in any manufacturer or representation of the flag of Yukon the colours used shall so far as is practicable match the colours shown in the sample."
 - (3) In Schedule I of the Flag Act, the words "2. Illustration" are repealed and the drawn illustration is also repealed.
- 6. Subsection 154(12) of the Insurance Act is repealed.
- 7. (1) The following is substituted for section 18 of the Interpretation Act:
 - "18. In an enactment, a citation of or reference to another enactment is a citation of or reference to the other enactment as amended from time to time whether before or after the commencement of the enactment in which the citation or reference occurs."
 - (2) In subsection 19(5) of the Interpretation Act, the expression "generic reference" is substituted for the word "reference".
- 8. In the definition of "Law Society" in subsection 2(1) of the Legal Services Society Act, the expression "Law Society of Yukon" is substituted for the expression "Yukon Law Society".
- (1) Subsection 24(3) of the Medical Profession Act is amended by striking out the expression "consisting of one member of the council, and two members".
 - (2) The following is substituted for subsection 30(1) of the Medical Profession Act:
 - "30. (1) Where it is inexpedient to appoint an inquiry committee because of insufficient information about the matter of possible inquiry, the Council may appoint a person as an investigator to obtain information about the matter."

- 10. (1) In subsection 5(1) of the Miscellaneous Statute Law Amendment Act, 1984 (No.2), the expression "Business Development Assistance Act" is substituted for the expression "Business Development Agreement Act".
 - (2) In subsection 5(2) of the Miscellaneous Statute Law Amendment Act, 1984 (No. 2), the expression "Business Development Assistance Act" is substituted for the expression "Business Development Act".
- 11. In subsection 15(1) of the Notaries Act, the word "establish" is substituted for the word "prescribe".
- 12. In paragraph 17(1)(b) of the Optometry Act, the expression "Supreme Court" is substituted for the expression "appropriate court".
- 13. Subsection 5(3) of the Pounds Act is amended by striking out the word "division".
- 14. In subsection 43(2) of the Public Service Staff Relations Act, the word "stipulate" is substituted for the word "prescribe".
- 15. The following is substituted for paragraph (c) of the definition of "judgment" in subsection 2(1) of the Reciprocal Enforcement of Judgments Act:
 - "(c) does not include an order as that word is defined in the Reciprocal Enforcement of Maintenance Orders Act;".
- 16. In paragraph 17(2)(b) of the Recreation Act, the expression "or is an Indian Band under the Indian Act (Canada)" is added immediately after the expression "Societies Act".
- 17. The following is substituted for subsection 10(3) of the Students' Financial Assistance Act:
 - "(3) Where a student establishes that in consequence of unforeseen or unfortunate circumstances he or she did not apply within the time fixed by subsection (1), he or she may apply for and may, if otherwise eligible, be granted financial assistance notwithstanding the expiration of the time fixed by subsection (1)."
- 18. (1) In subsection 4(2) of the Territorial Court Act, the expression "and every judge of the Territorial Court shall be deemed to have been designated a youth court judge" is added immediately after the expression "a youth court".

- (2) In paragraph 8.1(1)(d) of the Territorial Court Act, the expression "Law Society of Yukon" is substituted for the expression "Yukon Law Society".
- 19. (1) Section 22 of the Trustee Act is repealed.
 - (2) In subsection 52(1) of the Trustee Act, the expression "had no notice" is substituted for the expression "had notice".
- 20. Section 22 of the Wills Act is repealed.
- 21. (1) An Act to amend the Liquor Act, 1979 (2nd), c. 10, is repealeđ.
 - (2) Section 8 of an Act to amend the Motor Vehicles Act, 1983, c. 24 is repealed.

- 90 -

AN ACT TO AMEND THE MOTOR VEHICLES ACT

(Assented to October 28, 1985)

The Commissioner of the Yukon Territory, by and with the advice and consent of the Legislative Assembly, enacts as follows:

- 1. This Act amends the Motor Vehicles Act.
- 2. The following is substituted for the definition of "policy" in subsection 62(1):

"'policy' means an owner's or non-owner's motor vehicle liability policy in conformity with Part VI of the Insurance Act, but where, in the normal course of its business, an insurer does not issue such a policy in respect of the type of motor vehicle to be insured, 'policy' means a general liability insurance policy issued by a person licensed to carry on the business of issuing that insurance in Yukon;".

- In subsection 245(1), the expression "section 237 or 238 of the Criminal Code (Canada) in respect of a motor vehicle" is substituted for the expression "section 234, 234.1, 235 or 236 of the Criminal Code (Canada)".
- 4. Subsection 246(6) is repealed.
- In subsection 247(1), the expression "section 233 or 236 of the Criminal Code (Canada) in respect of a motor vehicle" is substituted for the expression "section 233 of the Criminal Code (Canada)".
- 6. In subsection 247.1(1), the expression "under section 242 of the Criminal Code (Canada) prohibiting a person" is substituted for the expression "upon the conviction of a person under section 203, 204, 219, 233, 234, 234.1, 235 or 236 of the Criminal Code (Canada) prohibiting him".

- 7. (1) From the coming into force of this Act until March 31, 1986, section 70 of the Motor Vehicles Act does not apply to an insurer in respect of any general liability insurance policy.
 - (2) Subject to subsection (1), until March 31, 1986, all the requirements of the Motor Vehicles Act relating to financial responsibility cards in respect of a general liability insurance policy may be satisfied by means of a copy of the policy or any other document that, in the circumstances, will reasonably satisfy those requirements.
- 8. Sections 3 to 6 come into force on a day to be fixed by the Commissioner in Executive Council.

AN ACT TO AMEND THE NOISE PREVENTION ACT

The Commissioner of the Yukon Territory, by and with the advice and consent of the Legislative Assembly, enacts as follows:

- 1. This Act amends the Noise Prevention Act.
- The following section is added immediately after section 1:
 - "1.1 In this Act,

'premises' includes the land appertaining to a building or other structure and land that does not have any building or other structure located on it;

'sound amplification device' includes radios, televisions, record players, tape players, disc players, electronically amplified musical instruments and public address systems."

- 3. The following are substituted for sections 2 and 3:
 - "2. Between the hours of eleven o'clock in the afternoon and seven o'clock of the forenoon next following, no person shall, by operating any sound amplification device, or by fighting, screaming, shouting, swearing, singing or using insulting or obscene language, make in any premises or vehicle noise that disturbs the peace and quiet of persons outside the premises or vehicle in which the noise is made.
 - 3. (1) Between the hours of eleven o'clock in the afternoon and seven o'clock of the forenoon next following, no owner or occupier of premises or a vehicle shall permit any other person to make in the premises or vehicle, by operating any sound amplification device, or by fighting, screaming, shouting, swearing, singing or using insulting or obscene language, noise that disturbs the peace and quiet of persons outside the premises or vehicle in which the noise is made.

- (2) For the purposes of subsection (1),
 - (a) a person whose name is shown on a certificate of title in the land titles office for the Yukon Land Registration District as an owner of an interest in land on which the premises are located shall be presumed to be an owner of the premises in the absence of evidence to the contrary.
 - (b) a person who is in possession of premises pursuant to a lease or tenancy agreement, whether written or not, shall be presumed to be an occupier of the premises in the absence of evidence to the contrary,
 - (c) subject to paragraph (d), the person in whose name a motor vehicle is registered under the Motor Vehicles Act shall be presumed to be the owner of the vehicle in the absence of evidence to the contrary, and
 - (d) in the case of a motor vehicle rented or leased from a person in the business of renting or leasing motor vehicles, the owner of the vehicle shall be presumed to be the person to whom the vehicle is rented or leased.
- 4. In section 4, the figure "\$1,000" is substituted for the expression "one hundred dollars".
- 5. The following sections are added immediately after section 4:
 - "4.1 (1) Where a peace officer has reasonable and probable grounds to believe and does believe that a person is committing an offence under this Act, the peace officer may arrest that person without warrant in order to establish the identity of the person, and shall release that person upon establishing his or her identity.
 - (2) Subsection (1) shall not be construed to authorize a peace officer to enter without warrant a place that the peace officer may lawfully enter only with a warrant.
 - 4.2 (1) Where a peace officer finds a person committing an offence against this Act the peace officer may command that person to stop the conduct that gives rise to the offence.
 - (2) A person who has been commanded under subsection (1) to stop conduct that gives rise to an offence against this Act shall stop the conduct.

4.3 The Executive Council Member or a person affected by a contravention of this Act may apply to a judge of the Supreme Court of Yukon and the judge may grant an injunction to restrain a contravention of this Act."

- 95 -

AN ACT TO AMEND THE PARTNERSHIP ACT

(Assented to October 23, 1985)

The Commissioner of the Yukon Territory, by and with the advice and consent of the Legislative Assembly, enacts as: follows:

- 1. (1) This Act amends the Partnership Act.
- 2. The following is substituted for section 47:
 - "47. In this part,

'certificate' means a certificate filed under section 50 and includes all amendments made to the certificate:

'partnership agreement:' includes all amendments made to the agreement;

'security issuer' means a security issuer as defined in the Securities Act;

'registrar of securities' means the registrar of securities as defined in the Securities Act."

- 3. The following is substituted for section 50:
 - "50. (1) A limited partnership is formed when there is filed with the registrar a certificate signed by each person who is, upon the formation of the partnership, to be a general partner.
 - (2) The certificate under subsection (1) shall state
 - (a) the business name under which the business of the limited partnership is to be conducted,
 - (b) the general nature of the business carried on or intended to be carried on.
 - (c) the full name and residence address of each general partner or, in the case of a general partner other than an individual, the name and address in Yukon,
 - (d) the term for which the limited partnership is to exist,

- (e) the aggregate amount of cash and the nature and fair value of any other property to be contributed by all of the limited partners.
- (f) the aggregate amount of any additional contributions agreed to be made by limited partners and the times at which or events on the happening of which the additional contributions are to be made, and
- (g) the basis on which limited partners are to be entitled to share profits or receive other compensation by way of income on their contributions.
- (3) Where the partnership agreement contains provisions respecting any of the following matters, the certificate under subsection (1) shall also contain the same provisions respecting,
 - (a) the times when contributions of limited partners are to be returned.
 - (b) the right of a limited partner to substitute an assignee or contributor in his or her place, and the terms and conditions of the substitution.
 - (c) the right to admit additional limited partners,
 - (d) the extent to which one or more of the limited partners has greater rights than the others,
 - (e) the right of a remaining general partner to continue the business on the bankruptcy, death, retirement, mental incompetence or dissolution of a general partner,
 - (f) the right of a limited partner to demand and receive property other than cash in return for his or her contribution. or
 - (g) the right of the limited partners or any of them to admit an additional general partner to the partnership or to permit or require a general partner to retire from the partnership."
- 4. (1) The following is substituted for subsection 53(2):
 - "(2) A limited partnership shall keep at its registered office
 - (a) a register showing in alphabetical order for each limited partner
 - (i) the full name and last known residence address of each limited partner, and

- (ii) where the participation by limited partners is defined by percentage interests or by the number of units or other similar rights held by them, the percentage interest or the number and class of units or other rights held,
- (b) a copy of the certificate of limited partnership and each amendment made to it, and
- (c) a copy of the partnership agreement and each amendment made to it."
- (2) In subsection 53(3), the expression "Subject to subsection (3.1), the records" is substituted for the expression "The records".
- (3) The following subsection is added to section 53:
 - "(3.1) The records kept under subsection (2) by a limited partnership that is a security issuer must be available for inspection and copying during ordinary business hours at the request of any person."
- (1) In subsection 57(1), the expression "Subject to subsection (2), a limited partner has" is substituted for the expression "A limited partner has".
 - (2) The following subsection is added to section 57:
 - "(2) The registrar of securities may exempt a limited partnership that is a security-issuer from obedience to some aspect or the entirety of the rights granted under paragraphs (1)(a) and (b) where the registrar considers that it is in the public interest to do so."
- 6. The following is substituted for subsection 59(3):
 - "(3) A person who is at the same time a general partner and a limited partner and who has a claim against the assets of the limited partnership shall not, respecting the claim,
 - (a) receive or hold as collateral security, property of the limited partnership, or
 - (b) where the assets of the limited partnership at the time of the claim are not sufficient to discharge partnership liabilities to persons who are not general partners or limited partners, receive from a general partner or from the limited partnership a payment, conveyance or release from liability."

- 7. The following is substituted for section 60:
 - "60. (1) Subject to subsection (2), limited partners, in relation to one another, share in the limited partnership assets in respect of
 - (a) their claims
 - (i) for capital, and
 - (ii) for profits or compensation by way of income on their contributions

in proportion to the respective amounts of their claims, and

- (b) all claims, other than those referred to in paragraph (a), equally.
- (2) Where there is more than one limited partner, the partnership agreement may provide that one or more of the limited partners is to have greater rights than the other limited partners as to
 - (a) the return of contributions,
 - (b) profits or compensation by way of income on their contributions, or
 - (c) any other matter.
- 8. (1) In paragraph 61(1)(c), the word "reflect" is substituted for the expression "set forth".
 - (2) The following subsection is added to section 61:
 - "(5) Where one or more partners of a limited partnership apply to have the partnership dissolved and wound up and the court considers that the applicant is entitled to the relief sought, the court may, in addition to any other relief it may give, order on terms it considers appropriate that, instead of dissolution and winding up, the interest in the partnership of each partner making the application be purchased by the partnership."
- 9. The following is substituted for section 64:
 - "64. An additional limited partner shall not be admitted to a limited partnership except in accordance with the partnership agreement and by entry of his or her name on the register referred to in paragraph 53(2)(a)."
- 10. The following is substituted for section 65:
 - "65. (1) A limited partner shall not assign his or her interest, in whole or in part, in the limited partnership unless
 - (a) all the limited partners and all the general partners consent or the partnership agreement permits it, and

- (b) the assignment is made in accordance with the terms of the consent or partnership agreement, as the case may be.
- (2) An assignee of the interest, in whole or in part, of a limited partner does not become a limited partner in the limited partnership until the assignee's ownership of the assigned interest is entered in the register referred to in section 53(2)(a), and until the assignee's ownership is so entered the assignee has none of the rights of a limited partner exercisable against the partnership or against any of the partners other than the assignor.
- (3) Subject to subsection (4), on becoming a limited partner, an assignee acquires the rights and powers and is subject to all the restrictions and liabilities that the assignor had in respect of the assigned interest immediately before the assignment.
- (4) On becoming a limited partner, an assignee does not acquire the liabilities of the assignor of which the assignee is unaware and which are not specified in the certificate or in the partnership agreement, as the case may be.
- (5) Subject to subsection (6), an assignor is not released from liability under section 62 or 73 or from a liability referred to in subsection (4).
- (6) Where an interest, in whole or in part, is assigned and at the time that the assignment is entered under subsection (2) an unpaid contribution in respect of it is not due, and has no due date fixed, the assignee is solely liable for that unpaid contribution.
- 11. (1) In paragraph 69(1)(a), the expression "contribution of any limited partner" is substituted for the expression "contribution of a limited partner".
 - (2) Paragraphs 69(1)(b) and (c) are repealed.
 - (3) The following is substituted for paragraph 69(1)(j):
 - "(j) it is necessary to amend the certificate to reflect accurately the partnership agreement as amended from time to time."

- 12. The following are substituted for subsections 69(2) and (3):
 - "(2) An amendment to a certificate with respect to matters referred to in subsection (1) or subsection 50(2) or (3) is not effective until a revised form of certificate incorporating the amendment and certified as correct under subsection (3) of this section is filed with the registrar.
 - (3) For the purposes of subsection (2), certification as correct or as being a true copy shall be made by
 - (a) every general partner who is not withdrawing involuntarily, and
 - (b) in the case of an amendment to substitute or add a general partner, the person to be substituted or added."

RAVEN ACT

(Assented to October 28, 1985)

- 1. This Act may be cited as the Raven Act.
- 2. The bird popularly known as the northern raven and known biologically as the common raven (Corvus corax, sub-species principalis) is adopted as the official bird of Yukon.

AN ACT TO AMEND THE RECIPROCAL ENFORCEMENT OF MAINTENANCE ORDERS ACT

(Assented to October 23, 1985)

- This Act amends the Reciprocal Enforcement of Maintenance Orders Act.
- 2. The following subsection is added to section 3:
 - "(8) Where an order purporting to be a final order is made by a court in a reciprocating state and the order is not enforceable in Yukon under the conflict of laws rules of Yukon, the court in Yukon may, in its discretion, deem the order to be a provisional order and deal with it under this Act."
- 3. In section 5, the word "parentage" is substituted for the word "affiliation".
- 4. In subsection 6(2), the expression "Matrimonial Property and Family Support Act" is substituted for the expression "Maintenance Act".
- 5. (1) The following is substituted for paragraph 8(6)(b):
 - "(b) the claimant who initiated the application for variation or recission in a reciprocating state is ordinarily resident in the reciprocating state;".
 - (2) The following is substituted for clause 8(7)(a)(ii):
 - "(ii) the claimant is ordinarily resident in a reciprocating state other than the state in which the order was first made, and ".

- (3) The following subsections are added to section 8:
 - "(7.1) A registration court may make a confirmation order for the variation or recission of a registered order where
 - (a) the respondent who initiated the application in a reciprocating state for variation or recission is ordinarily resident in the reciprocating state.
 - (b) the claimant is ordinarily resident in Yukon,
 - (c) a certified copy of a provisional order of variation or recission made by a court in the reciprocating state is received by the registration court through the Executive Council Member, and
 - (d) the claimant is given notice of the proceeding and an opportunity to appear.
 - (8.1) Where the respondent is ordinarily resident in Yukon and the claimant is ordinarily resident in the reciprocating state in which the registered order was first made, a registration court may, on application by the respondent, make a provisional order varying or rescinding a registered order and section 4 applies with the necessary modifications to the proceeding."
- 6. In subsection 10(2), the expression "The provisions of the Matrimonial Property and Family Support Act" is substituted for the expression "The provision of the Maintenance Act".
- 7. The following subsection is added to section 13:
 - "(3) For the purposes of this Act, it shall be presumed, unless the contrary is established, that procedures taken in a reciprocating state have been regular and complete and that the court making an order in a reciprocating state had jurisdiction recognized under the conflict of laws rules of Yukon."
- 8. (1) In subsection 15(1),
 - (a) the expression "subsections (1.1), (2), and (3)" is substituted for the expression "subsections 16(1), (2), and (3)", and

- (b) the expression "to the Supreme Court" is substituted for the expression "and the Maintenance Act applies with the necessary changes to the appeal".
- (2) The following subsections are added to section 15:
 - "(1.1) Subject to subsection (2), an appeal under subsection (1) shall be taken by notice of appeal given within 30 days after the making of the ruling, decision or order appealed from.
 - (3.1) The Supreme Court may grant an extension of time to appeal under this section.
 - (3.2) The procedure for the conduct of an appeal under this section shall be, with such reasonable modifications directed by the Supreme Court as may be necessary, the same as for an appeal in the Court of Appeal.
 - (3.3) Upon hearing an appeal, the Supreme Court may affirm, reverse or modify the order appealed against, and make such other auxiliary order as seems proper."
- 9. The following subsection is added to section 19:
 - "(3) In any proceeding under this Act, the fact that a state is a reciprocating state shall be judicially noticed."

'n

AN ACT TO AMEND THE RETIREMENT PLAN BENEFICIARIES ACT

(Assented October 23, 1985)

- 1. (1) This Act amends the Retirement Plan Beneficiaries Act.
- 2. (1) In the definition of "plan" in section 2, the expression "and includes a retirement savings plan and a home ownership savings plan as defined in the lncome Tax Act (Canada)" is inserted immediately after the expression "this section".
- 3. (1) The following is substituted for section 12:
 - "12. Where a participant in a plan has designated a person to receive a benefit under the plan on the death of the participant,
 - (a) the person administering the plan is discharged on paying the benefit to the person designated in the latest designation made in accordance with the terms of the plan, in the absence of actual notice of a subsequent designation or revocation made under section 3 but not in accordance with the terms of the plan, and
 - (b) the person designated may enforce payment of the benefit payable to him or her under the plan, but the person administering the plan may set up any defence that he or she could have set up against the participant or the personal representative of the participant."

AN ACT TO AMEND THE SALE OF GOODS ACT

(Assented to October 23, 1985)

The Commissioner of the Yukon Territory, by and with the advice and consent of the Legislative Assembly, enacts as follows:

- 1 (1) This Act amends the Sale of Goods Act.
- 2 (1) In subsections 6(1) and (2), the figure "\$1,000" is substituted for the expression "fifty dollars".

- 107 -

SECOND APPROPRATION ACT. 1985-86

(Assented to October 23, 1985)

Whereas it appears by message from the Commissioner and in the estimates accompanying the message that the sums mentioned in Schedule "A" of this Act are required for the purpose of defraying certain expenses of the public service of Yukon and for related purposes for the period of 12 months ending on March 31, 1986;

- 1. (1) This Act may be cited as the Second Appropriation Act, 1985-86.
- 2. (1) In addition to the sum of \$48,207,000 provided for in the First Appropriation Act, 1985-86, from and out of the Yukon Consolidated Revenue Fund there may be paid and applied a sum not exceeding in the whole \$165,880,000, including the sum of \$107,580,000 provided for in the Interim Supply Appropriation Act, 1985-86, for defraying the several charges and expenses of the public service of Yukon payable in the period of 12 months ending on March 31, 1986, as set forth in Schedule "A" of this Act and that sum shall not be paid or applied except in accordance with Schedule "A", the Financial Administration Act and, subject to that Act, the estimates accompanying the message from the Commissioner.
- The due application of all monies paid or applied pursuant to section 2 shall be accounted for.

SECOND APPROPRIATION ACT, 1985-86

SCHEDULE A

<u>Ope</u>	ration and Maintenance Votes	\$(Dollars in 000's)
01	Yukon Legislative Assembly	1,750
02	Executive Council Office	3,915
09	Community and Transportation Services	40,699
07	Economic Development: Mines and	
	Small Business	3,689
03	Education	36,263
12	Finance	2,902
16	Government Services	10,437
05	Health and Human Resources	35,013
80	Justice	14,363
10	Public Service Commission ,	2,484
14	Renewable Resources	5,444
13	Tourism	3,182
	Loan Capital	3,900
	Loan Amortization	1,839
	,	
	TOTAL	165,880
		======

AN ACT TO AMEND THE SUMMARY CONVICTIONS ACT

(Assented to October (22,)1985)

- 1. This Act amends the Summary Convictions Act.
- 2. The following sections are added immediately after section 4:
 - "4.1 (1) A provision in any enactment which creates or results in the creation of an offence shall be deemed to include a provision that an attempt to commit the offence shall itself constitute an offence which may be dealt with and punished in like manner as if the offence has been committed.
 - (2) A person charged with an offence may be convicted of having attempted to commit that offence although he or she was not charged with the attempt.
 - 4.2 (1) Every one is a party to an offence who
 - (a) actually commits it.
 - (b) does for omits to do anything for the purpose of aiding any person to commit fit, or
 - (c) abets any person in committing it.
 - (2) Where two or more persons form an intention in common to carry out an unlawful purpose and to assist each other therein and any one of them, in carrying out the common purpose, commits an offence, each of them who knew or ought to have known that the commission of the offence would be a probable consequence of carrying out the common purpose is a party to that offence.

- 4.3 (1) Where a person counsels or procures another person to be a party to an offence and that person is afterwards a party to that offence, the person who counselled or procured the other is a party to the offence, notwithstanding that the offence was committed in a way different from that which was counselled or procured.
 - (2) Every person who counsels or procures another person to be a party to an offence is a party to every offence that the other commits in consequence of the counselling or procuring that the person who counselled or procured knew or ought to have known was likely to be committed in consequence of the counselling or procurement."
- 3. The following subsection is added to section 11:
 - "(4) Subject to sections 21 and 22, a ticket served in accordance with paragraph (1)(b) shall be deemed to have been served on the seventh day after the day on which the notice to appear is mailed."
- 4. In subsection 20(1), the expression "and shall impose upon the person a fine that shall be in an amount not less than the amount of the fine specified on the ticket under subsection 18(1) and that may be in an amount as great as twice the amount specified on the ticket under subsection 18(1)" is substituted for the expression "and impose upon the person a fine in an amount equal to twice the amount of the fine specified on the ticket under subsection 18(1)".
- 5. In subsection 22(2), the expression "obligation to appear in court in person or by agent to answer" is substituted for the expression "obligation to appear in court to answer".
- 6. (1) In section 30, the following expression is substituted for paragraphs (a) and (b):

"enter a plea of not guilty on behalf of the person, set a time convenient to the prosecutor for an ex parte hearing of the charge, and adjourn the proceedings to that time".

- (2) The following subsection is added to section 30:
 - "(2) Where a justice has set a time for an ex parte hearing of the charge, the justice may
 - (a) further adjourn the proceedings from time to time, and
 - (b) in all other respects conduct the proceedings and hear and determine the charge in the absence of the person who was required to appear in court in person or by agent as fully and effectually if the person had appeared in person or by agent."

- 112 -

THIRD APPROPRIATION ACT. 1985-86

(Assented to October 23, 1985)

Whereas it appears by message from the Commissioner and in the estimates accompanying the message that, in addition to the sums previously appropriated, the sums not appearing in parenthesis in Schedule "A" of this Act are required for the purpose of defraying certain expenses of the public service of Yukon and for related purposes for the period of 12 months ending in March 31, 1985;

- 1. (1) This Act may be cited as the Third Appropriation Act, 1985-86.
- 2. (1) In addition to the sum of \$48,207,000 provided for in the First Appropriation Act, 1985-86 and the sum of \$165,880,000 provided for in the Second Appropriation Act, 1965-86, from and out of the Yukon Consolidated Revenue Fund there may be paid and applied a sum not exceeding in the whole \$25,056,000 for defraying the several charges and expenses of the public service of Yukon payable in the period of 12 months ending on March 31, 1985, as set forth in Schedule "A" of this Act and that sum shall not be paid or applied except in accordance with Schedule "A", the Financial Administration Act and, subject to that Act, the estimates accompanying the message from the Commissioner.
 - (2) The sums previously appropriated to a vote or item that is listed in Schedule A and that has a sum appearing in parenthesis after it are reduced by the amount of the sum appearing in parenthesis.
 - (3) The due application of all monies paid or applied pursuant to section 2 shall be accounted for.

THIRD APPROPRIATION ACT, 1985-86

SCHEDULE A

\$ (Dollars in 000's)

		_		
<u> 0pe</u>	ration and Maintenance Votes	Voted to Date	This Appro- priation	Total Voted (Current Spend- ing Authority)
01 02 09 07 03 12 16 05 08 10 14 13	Yukon Legislative Assembly Executive Council Office Community and Transportation Services Economic Development: Mines and Small Business Education Finance Government Services Health and Human Resources Justice Public Service Commission Renewable Resources Tourism Loan Capital Loan Amortization	1,750 3,915 40,699 3,689 36,263 2,902 10,437 35,013 14,363 2,484 5,444 3,182 3,900 1,839		1,750 3,915 40,699 3,689 36,263 2,902 10,437 35,013 14,363 2,484 5,444 3,182 3,900 1,839
	Subtotal Operation and Maintenance	165,880		165,880
<u>Cap</u> 02	ital Votes Executive Council Office	5	orie dollar	· ;
	Community and Transportation Services Economic Development: Mines and Small Business Education Government Services Health and Human Resources Justice Renewable Resources Tourism Subtotal Capital	18,688 4,699 6,137 4,225 2,729 7,351 838 3,535 48,207 =====	948 3,250 2,468 (368) 2,887 542 1,313 25,056	32,704 5,647 9,387 6,693 2,361 10,238 1,380 4,848 73,263
	lotat	214,087	25,056 =====	239,143

AN ACT TO AMEND THE WILDLIFE ACT

(Assented to October 23, 1985)

- 1. This Act amends the Wildlife Act.
- 2. The following new section is added immediately after section 139:
 - "139.1 The Commissioner in Executive Council may enter into agreements with the Government of Canada with respect to the management of the Porcupine Caribou Herd."

YUKON DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION ACT

(Assented to October 28, 1985)

- 1. This Act may be cited as the Yukon Development Corporation Act.
- 2. In this Act; "board" means the board of directors under section 8; "corporation" means the Yukon Development Corporation established by this Act.
- There is hereby established a corporation to be known as the Yukom Development Corporation, which shall consist of the members of the board holding office from time to time pursuant to this Act.
- 4. The corporation is for all its purposes an agent of the Government of Yukon and its powers may be exercised only as an agent of the Government of Yukon.
- The objects for which the corporation is established are to participate with the private sector in the economic development of Yukon and, in particular,
 - (a) to develop and promote the development of Yukon resources on an economic and efficient basis.
 - (b) to promote employment and business opportunities for Yukon residents.
 - (c) to acquire the undertakings and assets of the Northern Canada Power Commission in Yukon, and to enter into arrangements with other electrical utilities to promote the efficiency and cost-effectiveness of electric power utility planning and operations in Yukon, and
 - (d) to carry out development policy directives issued to it: by the Commissioner in Executive Council.

- 6. (1) For the purpose of attaining its objects as set out in section 5, the corporation has the following powers:
 - (a) to develop and promote the development of energy systems and the generation, production, transmission and distribution of energy in all its forms;
 - (b) to exercise all of the powers of a corporation under the Business Corporations Act.
 - (2) The powers of the corporation may be exercised in its own name.
- 7. Actions, suits, or other legal proceedings in respect of any right or obligation acquired or incurred by the corporation on behalf of the Government of Yukon, whether in its own name or in the name of the Government of Yukon, may be brought or taken by or against the corporation in the name of the corporation in any court of competent jurisdiction.
- (1) The affairs of the corporation shall be conducted by a board of directors which shall be responsible to the Executive Council Member.
 - (2) The board shall consist of a chairman and at least four other members appointed by the Commissioner in Executive Council.
 - (3) A member of the board holds office for the prescribed term, subject to removal for just cause.
 - (4) A member is eligible for re-appointment.
 - (5) To provide for continuity in the membership of the board, the members first appointed may be appointed for different terms.
 - (6) In the event of a vacancy in the membership of the board, the Commissioner in Executive Council may appoint a replacement for the unexpired term of the person to be replaced.
- 9. (1) Members of the board who are not public servants shall be paid such remuneration as may be prescribed.
 - (2) A member of the board may be paid transportation, accommodation and living expenses incurred in connection with the performance of his duties as a member of the board away from his ordinary place of residence but, except as otherwise provided by the regulations, the payment of such expenses shall conform as nearly as possible in all respects to the payment of such expenses for members of the public service of Yukon.

- 10. The board shall determine its own procedures, subject to the approval of the Executive Council Member.
- 11. Pursuant to the Public Service Commission Act, an executive director of the corporation shall be appointed who shall, under the direction of the board, be responsible for the overall administration of the affairs of the corporation.
- 12. The Public Service Commission Act applies to employees of the corporation.
- 13. (1) In the conduct of any public utility operations, the corporation shall be deemed to be a public utility to which the Public Utilities Act applies, and the corporation shall in respect of its public utility operations be deemed to have the same status under the laws of Yukon as any other person operating a public utility in Yukon.
 - (2) Subsection (1) applies notwithstanding sections 42 and 43 of the Financial Administration Act.
- 14. (1) All money received by the corporation shall be deposited to the credit of a special account in the Yukon Consolidated Revenue Fund known as the Yukon Development Corporation Fund.
 - (2) The Yukon Development Corporation Fund shall be in such chartered bank as may be designated by the Commissioner in Executive Council.
 - (3) Subject to this Act, from and out of the Yukon Development Corporation Fund there may be paid all expenses incurred by the corporation in the conduct of its affairs under this Act.
- 15. The fiscal year of the corporation shall be the period from April 1 in one year to March 31 in the next year, inclusive.
- 16. The Commissioner in Executive Council may make regulations requiring and providing for the transfer of all or part of the net revenue of the corporation in any fiscal year, or in any part thereof, from the Yukon Development Corporation Fund to the general account of the Yukon Consolidated Revenue Fund.
- 17. (1) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Act,
 - (a) the receipt and payment of money by the corporation is subject to the Financial Administration Act, and
 - (b) the investment of money in the corporation is subject to the Financial Administration Act, except section 40 of that Act.

- (2) The corporation may authorize the Executive Council Member responsible for the Department of Finance to make and manage investments on behalf of the corporation.
- (3) Where investments are made or managed by the Executive Council Member under subsection (2) on behalf of the corporation,
 - (a) investments may be made in any investment permitted by the Trustee Act,
 - (b) no net losses resulting from the investments, and no costs of making or managing the investments, shall be charged to the principal of any amount the Executive Council Member is authorized to invest under subsection (2).
 - (c) reasonable costs of making or managing the investments made be charged to the net income or profit of the investments, and
 - (d) all other interest, sale proceeds and other income resulting from the investments shall be paid to the corporation.
- 18. (1) The accounts and financial transactions of the corporation are subject to the audit of the Auditor General of Canada, and for that purpose the Auditor General is entitled
 - (a) to have access to all records, documents, books, accounts and vouchers of the corporation, and
 - (b) to require from officers of the corporation such information as the Auditor General deems necessary.
 - (2) The Auditor General shall report annually to the Executive Member the results of an examination of the accounts and financial statements of the corporation, and the report shall state whether, in the opinion of the Auditor General,
 - (a) the financial statements represent fairly the financial position of the corporation at the end of the financial year and the results of its operations for that year in accordance with accounting policies of the corporation applied on a basis consistent with that of the immediately preceding year,
 - (b) proper books of account have been kept and the financial statements are in agreement with the books of account, and
 - (c) the transactions of the corporation that have come under the notice of the Auditor General are within the powers of the corporation under this Act or any other Act that applies to the corporation.

- (3) In reporting, the Auditor General shall call attention to any other matter within the scope of his or her examination that in his or her opinion should be brought to the attention of the Legislative Assembly.
- (4) The Auditor General from time to time may make to the corporation or the Executive Council Member such other reports as the Auditor General considers necessary or as the Executive Council Member may require.
- 19. Any grant payable under section 3 of the Municipal Finance Act in respect of the property of the corporation shall be paid out of the Yukon Development Corporation Fund.
- 20. (1) The board shall make a report to the Executive Council Member not later than June 30 in each year upon the activities and affairs of the corporation during the year ending on March 31 of that year.
 - (2) The report under subsection (1) shall include the report of the Auditor General referred to in section 18 for that year and such other information as the Executive Council Member may require.
 - (3) The Executive Council Member shall, within 10 days after receiving the report, table it in the Legislative Assembly if it is sitting, and otherwise the report shall be tabled within 10 days after the commencement of the next sitting of the Legislative Assembly.
- 21. (1) Subject to section 9, no member of the board shall derive any profit or financial advantage from his position as a member of the board.
 - (2) A member who has any pucuniary interest in or who is affected by any matter under consideration by the board shall make a declaration to the board identifying that interest before the matter is considered by the board, and shall refrain from voting on that matter.
 - (3) Subject to subsection (2), no member of the board is disqualified from his office by contracting with the corporation.

- (4) The use or purchase of a utility or other service by a member of the board from the corporation does not constitute a contravention of subsection (1) if the utility or other service is provided to the member upon the same basis as it is supplied or made available to the public, and a member is not required to make any declaration or refrain from voting under subsection (2) in respect of any such interest.
- 22. The Commissioner in Executive Council may make regulations for carrying the purposes and provisions of this Act into effect.
- 23. This Act comes into force on a day to be fixed by the Commissioner in Executive Council.

- 121 -

TABLE OF STATUTES

This is a table of those Statutes included in the Revised Ordinances, 1971, those subsequently added to the consolidation and those enacted since the coming into force of the Revised Ordinances, 1971, regardless of whether added to the consolidation.

Legend:

In. = Included in Am. = Amended

En. = Enacted Sp. = Spent

Rp. = Repealed History = from the earlier of:

(i) enactment or (ii) inclusion in R.O.Y.T., 1971 Re. = Re-enacted

N.C.N.R. = Not Consolidated, Not Repealed.

R.S.Y.T. = Revised Statutes of the Yukon Territory, originally published under the title Revised Ordinances of the Yukon Territory.

S.Y.T. = Statutes of the Yukon Territory, published before November 12, 1981, under the title Ordinances of the Yukon Territory or Ordinances of the Government of Yukon.

 \star = On November 12, 1985 a date for the coming into force of this Act had yet to be proclaimed. In this index there is no distinction made between an Act that has been proclaimed in force in its entirety and an Act that has been proclaimed in force only in part, there being other parts still to be proclaimed in force. Therefore, where the Act by its terms confers authority for it to be proclaimed in force in whole or in part, the user should check the proclamation to determine what parts of the Act are in force. The presence of an asterisk can in those cases be taken only as indication that some part of the Act has not been proclaimed in force.

Consolidation Chapter No. = Chapter designation of the Act for the purposes of the Consolidated version of the Statutes of the Yukon Territory.

<u>STATUTE</u>	CONSOLIDATION CHAPTER NO.	HISTORY
Access to Information	A-0.05	En. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 12
Accountants (Chartered)		See Institute of Chartered Accountants
Adult Occupational Training Agreements Repeal	'N.C.NR.	En. S.Y.T. (1975 (1st), c. 10
Age of Majority	A-0.1	En. S.Y.T. 1972 (1st), c. 1
Agricultural Products	A-0.12	En. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 5
Agriculture Development	-A015	En. S.Y.T. 1982, c.17
Alaska Highway Maintenance (1972)	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1972 (1st)., c2
Animal Protection	A-0.2	En. S.Y.T. 1977 (2nd), c. 1 Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 45, s. 2

Apprentice Training	A-1	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. A-1 Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 45, s. 3 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 6
Appropriation		See First, Second, etc. to Sixth
Arbitration	A-2	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. A-2 Am. S.Y.T 1984, c. 45, s. 4
Archives	A-3	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. A-3
Area Development	A -4	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. A-4 Am. S.Y.T. 1975 (3rd), c.3
Assessment and Taxation	A-4.1	En. S.Y.T. 1972 (1st), c. 13 Am. S.Y.T. 1975 (1st), c. 18 Am. S.Y.T. 1979 (2nd), c. 16 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 20, s. 2 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 17, s. 440 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 7
Assessment in the City of Whitehorse	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1977 (2nd), c. 11
Assignment of Book Debts	A-5	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. A-5 Rp. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 20, s. 74
Bills of Sale	B-1	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. B-1 Rp. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 20, s. 74
Blasting	B-2	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. B-2 kp. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 46*
Boiler and Pressure Vessels	B-2.1	En. S.Y.T. 1979 (2nd), c. 1 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 16, s. 1
Brands	B-3	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. B-3 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 20, s. 3
Building Standards	B-3.1	En. S.Y.T. 1973 (1st), c. 1 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 17, s. 440 Am. S.Y.T. 1981 (2nd), c. 1
Bulk Sales	B-4	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. B-4
Bulk Sales	8-4.05	En. S.Y.T. 1981 (2nd), c. 2* Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 45, s. 6
Business Corporations Act	B06	En. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 13 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 8
Business Development Assistance	B-4.1	En. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 1 Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 1 Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 45, s. 5 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 29, s. 10
Business Licence	B-5	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. B-5 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 20, s. 4
Canada and U.K. Reciprocal Recognition and Enforcement of Judgments	B-5.5	En. S.Y.T. 1984 c. 33
Cancer Diagnosis	C-1	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. C-1 Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 22, s. 1
Cemeteries and Burial Sites	C-2	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. C-2 Am. S.Y.T 1984, c. 45, s. 10

Central Trust Company and Crown Trust Company Act	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 10
Certified General Accountants	C-2.1	En. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 14
Change of Name	C-3	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. C-3 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 9, s. 2
Child Welfare	C-4:	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. C-4 Am. S.Y.T. 1972 (1st), c. 15 Rp. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 2, s 185
Children's	C-4:.5	En. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 2 Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 34 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 29, s. 2
Chiropractic	C-5	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. C-5 Am. S.Y.T. 1972 (1st), c. 16 Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 45, s. 7 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 11
Choses in Action	C-6	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. C-6 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 20, s. 75
Citizenship Instruction Agreement	C-7	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. C-7 Rp. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 45, s.8
Civil Defence Workers' Compensation Agreement	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1973 (1st), c. 26
Civil Emergency Measures	C-8	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. C-8 Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 45, s. 9 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 12
Collection	C-9	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. C-9
Community Assistance	C-9.1	En. S.Y.T. 1975 (1st), c. 1 Am. S.Y.T. 1975 (3rd), c. 4 Am. S.Y.T. 1976 (1st), c. 4 Am. S.Y.T. 1977 (1st), c. 8 Am. S.Y.T. 1978 (1st), c. 3 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 2 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 1 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 16, s. 2 Am. S.Y.T. 1981 (1st), c. 11, s. 21
Companies	C-10	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. C-10 Am. S.Y.T. 1975 (3rd), c. 5 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 3 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2rd), c. 2 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2rd), c. 20, s. 76 Am. S.Y.T. 1982, c. 18 Am. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 13
Compensation for Victims of Crime	C-10.1	En. S.Y.T. 1975 (1st), c. 2 Am. S.Y.T. 1976 (1st), c. 5 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 3 Am. S.Y.T. 1981 (1st), C. 10, s. 1 Am. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 15 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 29, s. 3
Conditional Sales	C-11	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. C-11 Rp. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 20, s. 74
Condominium	C-12	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. C-12 Am. S.Y.T. 1977 (2nd), c. 5 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 4

Conflict of Laws (Traffic Accidents)	C-12.1	En. S.Y.T. 1972 (1st), c. 3
Constitutional Questions	C-12.2	En. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 16 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 29, s. 4
Consumers' Protection	C-13	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. C-13
Contributory Negligence	C-14	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. C-14 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 20, s. 5
Controverted Elections	C-15	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. C-15 Am. S.Y.T. 1977 (2nd), c. 3, s. 103 Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 45, s. 12
Co-operative Associations	C-16	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. C-16 Am. S.Y.T. 1973 (1st), c. 8 Am. S.Y.T. 1975 (2nd), c. 7 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 4 Am. S.Y.T. 1981 (1st), c. 10, s. 2 Am. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 13
Cornea Transplant	C-17	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. C-17 Rp. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 14, s. 16
Coroners	C-18	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. C-18 Am. S.Y.T. 1972 (2nd), c. 17 Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 45, s. 11
Corporation Securities Registration	C-19	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. C-19 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 20, s. 6 Rp. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 20, s. 74
Corrections	C-19.1	En. S.Y.T. 1973 (1st), c. 2 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 20, s. 7 Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 2, s. 186
Court of Appeal	C-20	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. C-20 Am. S.Y.T. 1974 (2nd), c. 4 Am. S.Y.T. 1981 (2nd), c. 3 Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 35
Court Worker Agreement	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1975 (1st), c. 3
Credit Union	C-20.1	En. S.Y.T. 1977 (1st), c. 2 Rp. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 5
Credit Unions	C-21	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. C-21 Am. S.Y.T. 1975 (2nd), c. 8 Am. S.Y.T. 1976 (1st), c. 6 Rp. S.Y.T. 1977 (1st), c. 2, s. 158
Creditors' Relief	C-22	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. C-22
Curfew	C-23	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. C-23 Rp. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 45, s. 13
Custody of Federal Parole Violators Agreement	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1975 (1st), c. 4
Dangerous Goods Transportation	D-0.05	En. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 13*
Dawson, City of, General Purposes Loan	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1973 (1st), c. 25
Dawson City Utilities Replacement	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1978 (1st), c. 14 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 16, s. 3 Am. S.Y.T. 1981 (2nd), c. 11, s. 1

Dawson General Purposes Loan	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1972 (1st), c. 31
Dawson Historic Sites Aid Grants	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1977 (lst), c. 21 Rp. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 45, s. 14
'Day Care	D-01	En. S.Y.T. 1979 (2nd), c. 3 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 16, s. 4 Am. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 19
Defamation	D-1	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. D-1 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 5 Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 45, s. 15
Dental Profession	D-2	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. D-1 Am. S.Y.T. 1973 (1st), c. 9 Am. S.Y.T. 1979 (1st), c. 1 Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 3 Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 36
Dependants' Relief	D-3	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. D-3 Rp. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 6
Dependants' Relief	D-3.1	En. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 6 Am. S.Y.T. 1981 (1st), c. 10, s. 3
Denture Technicians	D-3.5	En. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 36
Devolution of Real Property	D-4	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. D-4
Disabled Persons' Allowance	D-5	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. D-5 Rp. S.Y.T. 1975 (1st), c. 11
Distress	D-6	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. D-6 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 20, s. 77 Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 45, s. 16
Dog	D-7	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. D-7 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 16, s. 5 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 9, s. 3
Economic and Regional Develop- ment Agreement	E05	En. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 17
Elections	E-1	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. E-1 Am. S.Y.T. 1974 (2nd), c. 5 Am. S.Y.T. 1975 (3rd), c. 6 Am. S.Y.T. 1977 (1st), c. 9 Am. S.Y.T. 1977 (2nd), c. 2 Am. S.Y.T. 1977 (2nd), c. 3, s. 104 Am. S.Y.T. 1978 (1st), c. 4 Rp. S.Y.T. 1979 (2nd), c. 18, s. 5
Elections	E-1.1	En. S.Y.T. 1977 (2nd), c. 3 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 20, s. 8 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 7 Am. S.Y.T. 1981 (2nd), c. 4 Am. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 18 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 9, s. 4 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 14
Elections, 1977	E-1.2	See Elections, c. E-1.1
Electoral District Boundaries	E-1.3	En. S.Y.T. 1977 (2nd), c. 2 Am. S.Y.T. 1981 (2nd), c. 11, s. 2 Am. S.Y.T. 1982 (1st), c. 1 Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 37
Electoral District Boundaries Commission	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1974 (2nd), c. 1 Sp. June 17, 1974

Electoral District Boundaries Commission	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1977 (1st), c. 3 Sp. November 7, 1977
Electoral District Boundaries Commission	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 4 Sp. November 1, 1984
Electrical Protection	E-2	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. E-2 Rp. S.Y.T. 1976 (3rd), c. 3
Electrical Protection	E-2.01	En. S.Y.T. 1976 (3rd), c. 3 Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 38
Electrical Public Utilities	E-2.1	En. S.Y.T. 1972 (1st), c. 4 Am. S.Y.T. 1974 (2nd), c. 6 Rp. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 26, s. 79
Elevator and Fixed Conveyances	E-3	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. E-3
Emergency Medical Aid	E-3.1	En. S.Y.T. 1976 (3rd), c. 1
Employment Agencies	E-4	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. E-4 Rp. S.Y.T. 1972 (1st), c. 5
Employment Agencies	E-4.1	En. S.Y.T. 1972 (1st), c. 5
Employment Expansion and Development	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 1
Employment Standards	E-4.5	En. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 5 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 15
Energy Conservation Agreement	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 6
Energy Conservation Assistance	E-4.7	En. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 6 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 16
Engineering Profession	E-5	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. E-5 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 9, s. 5
Evidence	E-6	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. E-6 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 7 Am. S.Y.T. 1960 (1st), c. 20, s. 9 Am. S.Y.T. 1981 (1st), c. 10, s. 4 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 9, s. 6
Executions	E-6.1	En. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 8
Executive Council	E-6.2	En. S.Y.T. 1982, c. 16
Exemptions	E-7	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. E-7 Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 22, s. 2 Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 45, s. 17
Expropriation	E-8	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. E-8 Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 45, s. 18
Factors	F-1	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. F-1 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 16, s. 6 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 20, s. 78
Fair Practices	F-2	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. F-2 Am. S.Y.T. 1974 (2nd), c. 7
Faro General Purposes Loan	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1972 (1st), c. 30
Faro Gerieral Purposes Loan	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1973 (1st), c. 27
Fatal Accidents	F-3	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. F-3 Rp. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 9

```
Fatal Accidents
                                   F-3.1
                                                     En. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 9
Fifth Appropriation, 1971-72
                                   N.C.N.R.
                                                     En. S.Y.T. 1972 (1st), c. 28
                                                    En. S.Y.T. 1974 (2nd), c. 16
Fifth Appropriation, 1973-74
                                   N.C.N.R.
                                                     En. S.Y.T. 1974 (2nd), c. 21
Fifth Appropriation, 1974-75
                                   N.C.N.R.
Fifth Appropriation, 1977-78
                                   N.C.N.R.
                                                    En. S.Y.T. 1979 (1st), c. 5
                                                    En. S.Y.T. 1982, c. 19
Fifth Appropriation, 1981-82
                                   N.C.N.R.
Fifth Appropriation, 1982-83
                                   N.C.N.R.
                                                    En. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 7
                                                    En. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 8
Fifth Appropriation, 1983-84
                                   N.C.N.R.
                                                    En. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 1
Fifth Appropriation, 1984-85
                                   N.C.N.R.
                                                    In. R.S.Y.1. 1971, c. F-4
Financial Administration
                                   F-4
                                                    Rp. S.Y.T. 1976 (3rd), c. 4
                                                    En. S.Y.T. 1976 (3rd), c. 4
Financial Administration
                                   F-4.1
                                                    Rp. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 19
                                                    En. S.Y.T., 1983, c. 19
Am. S.Y.T., 1984, c. 9
Financial Administration
                                   F-4.2
                                                    Am. S.Y.T., 1985, c. 17
Financial Agreement, 1973
                                   N.C.N.R.
                                                     En. S.Y.T. 1973 (1st), c. 28
Financial Agreement, 1974
                                   N.C.N.R.
                                                    En. S.Y.T. 1974 (2nd), c. 22
Financial Agreement, 1975
                                   N.C.N.R.
                                                    En. S.Y.T. 1975 (1st), c. 21
                                                    En. S.Y.T. 1976 (1st), c. 10
Financial Agreement, 1976
                                   N.C.N.R.
Financial Agreement, 1977
                                   N.C.N.R.
                                                    En. S.Y.T. 1977 (1st), c. 14
Financial Agreement, 1978
                                   N.C.N.R.
                                                    En. S.Y.T. 1978 (1st), c. 19
Financial Agreement, 1979
                                   N.C.N.R.
                                                    En. S.Y.T. 1979 (1st), c. 8
Financial Agreement, 1980
                                   N.C.N.R.
                                                    En. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 10
Financial Agreement, 1981
                                   N.C.N.R.
                                                    En. S.Y.T. 1981 (1st), c. 1
Financial Agreement, 1982
                                   N.C.N.R.
                                                    En. S.Y.T. 1982, c. 10
Financial Agreement, 1983
                                   N.C.N.R.
                                                    En. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 2
                                                    Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 10, s. 7
Financial Agreement, 1984
                                   N.C.N.R.
                                                    En. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 10
Financial Agreement, 1985-88
                                   N.C.N.R.
                                                    En. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 18
Fine Option
                                   F-4.5
                                                    En. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 19*
Fire Prevention
                                   F-5
                                                    In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, C. F-5
                                                    Am. S.Y.T. 1972 (1st), c. 18
Am. S.Y.T. 1973 (1st), c. 10
Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 12
Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 16, s. 7
Firearms Administration
                                   N.C.N.R.
                                                    En. S.Y.T. 1979 (1st), C. 3
  Agreement
First Appropriation, 1972-73
                                   N.C.N.R.
                                                    En. S.Y.T. 1972 (1st), c. 27
First Appropriation, 1973-74
                                   N.C.N.R.
                                                    Er. S.Y.T. 1973 (1st), c. 21
```

```
First Appropriation, 1974-75
                                  N.C.N.R.
                                                  En. S.Y.T. 1974 (2nd), c. 17
First Appropriation, 1975-76
                                  N.C.N.R.
                                                  En. S.Y.T. 1975 (1st), c. 20
                                                  En. S.Y.T. 1976 (1st), c. 11
First Appropriation, 1976-77
                                  N.C.N.R.
First Appropriation, 1977-78
                                  N.C.N.R.
                                                  En. S.Y.T. 1977 (1st), c. 15
First Appropriation, 1978-79
                                  N.C.N.R.
                                                  En. S.Y.T. 1978 (1st), c. 18
First Appropriation, 1979-80
                                  N.C.N.R.
                                                  En. S.Y.T. 1979 (1st), c. 7
First Appropriation, 1980-81
                                  N.C.N.R.
                                                  En. S.Y.T. 1979 (2nd), c. 4
                                  N.C.N.R.
                                                  En. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 8
First Appropriation, 1981-82
                                  N.C.N.R.
                                                  En. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 5
First Appropriation, 1982-83
First Appropriation, 1983-84
                                  N.C.N.R.
                                                  En. S.Y.T. 1982, c. 20
First Appropriation, 1984-85
                                  N.C.N.R.
                                                  En. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 20
                                                  En. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 39
First Appropriation, 1985-86
                                  N.C.N.R.
                                                  En. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 20
First Appropriation, 1986-87
                                  N.C.N.R.
                                                  In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, C. F-6
Fitness and Amateur Sport
                                  F-6
                                                  Rp. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 45, s. 19
  Agreement
                                  F-7
                                                  In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, C. F-7
Flag
                                                  Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 29, s. 5
Floral Emblem
                                  F~8
                                                  In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. F-8
                                                  In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. F-9
Forest Protection
                                  F-9
                                                  Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 20, s. 10
Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 22, s. 3
Fourth Appropriation, 1972-73
                                  N.C.N.R.
                                                  En. S.Y.T. 1973 (1st), c. 20
Fourth Appropriation, 1973-74
                                                  En. S.Y.T. 1973 (4th), c. 24
                                  N.C.N.R.
Fourth Appropriation, 1974-75
                                                  En. S.Y.T. 1974 (2nd), c. 20
                                  N.C.N.R.
                                                  En. S.Y.T. 1976 (1st), c. 12-
Fourth Appropriation, 1975-76
                                  N.C.N.R.
                                                  En. S.Y.T. 1978 (1st), c. 17
Fourth Appropriation, 1977-78
                                  N.C.N.R.
Fourth Appropriation, 1980-81
                                  N.C.N.R.
                                                  En. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 6
Fourth Appropriation, 1981-82
                                  N.C.N.R.
                                                  En. S.Y.T. 1982 (1st), c. 2
Fourth Appropriation, 1982-83
                                  N.C.N.R.
                                                  En. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 3
Fourth Appropriation, 1982-83
                                                  En. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 21
                                  N.C.N.R.
Fourth Appropriation, 1984-85
                                  N.C.N.R.
                                                  En. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 40
Fraudulent Preferences
                                  F-9.1
                                                  En. S.Y.T. 1973 (1st), c. 3
  and Conveyances
Frustrated Contracts
                                                  In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. F-10
                                  F-10
                                                  Rp. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 11
Frustrated Contracts
                                  F-10.1
                                                  En. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 11
Fuel Oil Tax
                                  F-11
                                                  In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. F-11
                                                  Rp. S.Y.T. 1973 (1st), c. 4
```

```
En. S.Y.T. 1973 (1st), c. 4
                                                   F-11.1
Fuel Oil Tax
                                                                           Am. S.Y.T. 1975 (2nd), c. 9
Am. S.Y.T. 1979 (1st), c. 2
Am. S.Y.T. 1981 (1st), c. 2
Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 21
Funeral Directors
                                                   F-11.5
                                                                           En. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 22
                                                  F-12
                                                                           In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. F-12
Fur Export
                                                                           Am. S.Y.T. 1979 (2nd), c. 5
Rp. S.Y.T. 1981 (2nd), c. 16, s. 193
                                                                           In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, C. G-1
Am. S.Y.T. 1972 (1st), c. 19
                                                   G-1
Game
                                                                           Am. S.Y.T. 1973 (1st), c. 11
Am. S.Y.T. 1975 (2nd), c. 10
Am. S.Y.T. 1975 (3rd), c. 7
                                                                           Am. S.Y.T. 1979 (2nd), c. 6
Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 9
Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 16, s. 8
Rp. S.Y.T. 1981 (2nd), c. 16, s. 193
Gaols
                                                   6-2
                                                                           In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. G-2
                                                                           In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. G-3
Garage Keepers' Lien
                                                   G-3
                                                                           Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 20, s. 79
                                                                           In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. G-4
Rp. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 12
Garnishee
                                                   G-4
Garnishee
                                                   G-4.1
                                                                           En. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 12
                                                                           En. S.Y.T. 1972 (1st), c. 6
Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 45, s. 20
Gasoline Handling
                                                   G-5
                                                   G-5.1
                                                                           En. S.Y.T. 1977 (1st), c. 4
General Development
  Agreement
                                                                           En. S.Y.T. 1975 (1st), c. 5
Government Employee
                                                   G-6
                                                                           Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 13
Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 26, s. 11
Am. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 19
   Housing Plan
                                                                           Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 11
Government Employees Unemploy-
   ment Insurance Agreement Act
                                                   G-7
                                                                           En. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 12
                                                                           En. S.Y.T. 1967 (1st), c. 4
Rp. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 45, s. 21
                                                   N.C.N.R.
Hairdressers Act
Health Care Insurance Plan
                                                   H-1
                                                                           In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. H-1
                                                                           Am. S.Y.T. 1981 (1st), c. 3
Am. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 19
Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 41
                                                                           En. S.Y.T. 1975 (3rd), c. 1
Am. S.Y.T. 1976 (3rd), c. 5
Am. S.Y.T. 1978 (1st), c. 5
Highways
                                                   H-1.1
Historic Sites and Monuments
                                                                           In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. H-2
                                                   H-2
                                                                           Am. S.Y.T. 1975 (2nd), C. 11
                                                                           En. S.Y.T. 1976 (1st), c. 1
Am. S.Y.T. 1976 (3rd), c. 6
Home Owners' Grant
                                                   H-2.1
                                                                           Am. S.Y.T. 1978 (1st), c. 6
Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 10
Am. S.Y.T. 1981 (1st), c. 4
Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 23
```

Hospital Insurance Services	H-3	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. H-3 Am. S.Y.T. 1975 (3rd), c. 8 Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 42
Hotels and Tourist Establishments	H-4	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. H-4
Housing	H-5	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. H-5
Housing Corporation	H-5.1	En. S.Y.T. 1972 (1st), c. 7 Am. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 19
Housing Development	H-6	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. H-6 Am. S.Y.T. 1975 (2nd), c. 12 Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 45, s. 22
Human Tissue Gift	H-7	En. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 14
Immunity of Members	I-1	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. 1-1 Rp. S.Y.T. 1978 (1st), c. 2, s. 42
Income Tax	I-1.01	En. S.Y.T. 1979 (2nd), c 7 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 11 Am. S.Y.T. 1981 (2nd), c. 7 Am. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 4 Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 13 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 24
Institute of Chartered Accountants	I-1.1	En. S.Y.T. 1976 (3rd), c. 2
Insurance	I-2	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. I-2 Rp. S.Y.T. 1977 (1st), c. 1, s. 236
Insurance	I-2.01	En. S.Y.T. 1977 (1st), c. 1 Am. S.Y.T. 1977 (2nd), c. 4, s. 257 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 15 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 20, s. 12 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 16, s. 9 Am. S.Y.T. 1982, c. 21 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 25 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 29, s. 6
Insurance Premium Tax	I-2.1	En. S.Y.T. 1976 (1st), c. 2 Am. S.Y.T. 1976 (3rd), c. 7 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 12
Interim Supply Appropriation, 1974-75	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1974 (2nd), c. 23
Interim Supply Appropriation, 1980-81	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 16
Interim Supply Appropriation, 1981-82	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1981 (1st), c. 5
Interim Supply Appropriation, 1982-83	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1982 (1st), c. 4
Interim Supply Appropriation, 1982-83 (no. 2)	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1982, c. 11
Interim Supply Appropriation, 1982-83 (no. 3)	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1982, c. 12
Interim Supply Appropriation, 1983-84	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 5

```
Interim Supply Appropriation,
                                                     N.C.N.R.
      1983-84 (No. 2)
                                                                              En. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 6
 Interim Supply Appropriation,
      1984-85
                                                     N.C.N.R.
                                                                              En. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 14
 Interim Supply Appropriation, 1984-85 (No. 2)
                                                     N.C.N.R.
                                                                              En. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 15
 Interim Supply Appropriation,
     1985-86
                                                     N.C.N.R.
                                                                              En. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 2
 International Child Abduction
                                                     I-2.2
                                                                              En. S.Y.T. 1981 (1st), c. 6
                                                                              Rp. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 2, s. 187
    (Hague Convention)
                                                     1-3
 Interpretation
                                                                              In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. I-3
                                                                              Am. S.Y.T. 1973 (1st), c. 12
                                                                             Am. S.Y.T. 1973 (1st), c. 12

Am. S.Y.T. 1974 (2nd), c. 8

Am. S.Y.T. 1979 (2nd), c. 2, s. 4

Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 20, s. 13

Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 30, s. 35

Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 20, s. 80

Am. S.Y.T. 1982 (1st), c. 4

Am. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 19

Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 2, s. 191.1

Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 29 s. 7
                                                                             Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 29, s. 7
Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 9, s. 7
 Interprovincial Subpoena
                                                     I-3.1
                                                                              En. S.Y.T. 1981 (1st), c. 7
 Intestate Succession
                                                     I-4
                                                                              In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. I-4
                                                                              Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 2, s. 188
Judicature
                                                     J-1
                                                                              In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. J-1
                                                                             Am. S.Y.T. 1975 (2nd), c. 13

Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 28, s. 1

Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 30, s. 35

Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 13*

Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 15

Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 20, s. 81

Am. S.Y.T. 1981 (2nd), c. 8

Am. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 19
                                                                              Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 2, s. 189
                                                     J-2
Jury
                                                                              In. R.S.Y.T., c. J-2
                                                                              Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 45, s. 23
Justice of the Peace
                                                     J-3
                                                                              In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. J-3
                                                                             Am. S.Y.T. 1976 (3rd), c. 8
Rp. S.Y.T. 1979 (2nd), c. 8, s. 23
                                                                             En. S.Y.T. 1979 (2nd), c. 8
Am. S.Y.T. 1981 (2nd), c. 9
Rp. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 10, s. I3
Justice of the Peace Court
                                                     J-3-1
Labour Standards
                                                    L-1
                                                                             In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. L-1
                                                                             Am. S.Y.T. 1973 (1st), c. 13
Am. S.Y.T. 1974 (2nd), c. 9
Am. S.Y.T. 1975 (1st), c. 14
                                                                             Am. S.Y.T. 1975 (3rd), c. 9
                                                                              Rp. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 5, s. 108
Land Acquisition Fund
                                                    L-1.1
                                                                             En. S.Y.T. 1976 (2nd), c. 1
                                                                             Rp. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 19
Land Planning
                                                    L-1.2
                                                                             En. S.Y.T. 1982, c. 22*
```

```
Landlord and Tenant
                                                     L-2
                                                                               In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. L-2
                                                                               Am. S.Y.T. 1972 (1st), c. 20
Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 20, s. 14
Am. S.Y.T. 1981 (2nd), c. 10
Am. S.Y.T. 1982, c. 23
                                                                               Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 16
                                                                               In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. L-3
Lands
                                                     L-3
                                                                               Rp. S.Y.T. 1972 (1st), c. 8, 14
                                                                               En. S.Y.T. 1972 (1st), c. 8, 14
Am. S.Y.T. 1981 (1st), c. 8
Lands
                                                     L-3.01
Legal Aid
                                                     L-3.1
                                                                               En. S.Y.T. 1975 (3rd), c. 2
                                                                               Rp. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 18*
Legal Profession
                                                     L-4
                                                                               In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. L-4
                                                                               Am. S.Y.T. 1975 (3rd), c. 10
Am. S.Y.T. 1979 (2nd), c. 9
Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 20, s. 15
Rp. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 17
Legal Profession
                                                     L-4.1
                                                                               En. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 17
Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 26
Legal Profession Accounts
                                                     L-5
                                                                               In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. L-5
                                                                               Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 20, s. 16
Rp. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 17, s. 115
                                                                               En. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 18*
Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 29, s. 8
Legal Services Society
                                                     L-5.05
                                                                               En. S.Y.T. 1978 (1st), c. 2
Am. S.Y.T. 1979 (2nd), c. 18
Legislative Assembly
                                                     L-5.1
                                                                               Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 25
Am. S.Y.T. 1981 (1st), c. 20
Am. S.Y.T. 1982 (1st), c. 9
Am. S.Y.T. 1982, c. 24
                                                                               Am. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 22
Am. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 23
Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 43
Legislative Assembly Retirement
                                                                             En. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 19
   Allowances
                                                     L-5.2
Legitimation
                                                     L-6
                                                                               In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. L-6
                                                                               Rp. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 2, s. 190
                                                                               In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. L-7
Limitation of Actions
                                                     L-7
                                                                               Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 45, s. 24
                                                                               In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. L-8
Am. S.Y.T. 1976 (1st), c. 3, s. 5
Liquor
                                                     L-8
                                                                               Am. S.Y.T. 1976 (1st), c. 3,
Am. S.Y.T. 1976 (3rd), c. 9
Am. S.Y.T. 1977 (1st), c. 13
Am. S.Y.T. 1979 (2nd), c. 10
Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 17
                                                                               Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 20, s. 17
                                                                               Am. S.Y.T. 1982,(2nd), c. 25
Am. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 19
Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 20
                                                                               Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 3
                                                                               Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 9, s. 8
Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 29, s. 21
                                                                               En. S.Y.T. 1976 (1st), c. 3
Am. S.Y.T. 1977 (1st), c. 10
Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 18
Liquor Tax
                                                     L-8.1
```

```
Loan Agreement (1972), No. 1
                                    N.C.N.R.
                                                       En. S.Y.T. 1972 (1st), c. 26
Loan Agreement (1973), No. 1
                                     N.C.N.R.
                                                       En. S.Y.T. 1973 (1st), c. 29
Loan Agreement (1973), No. 2
                                     N.C.N.R.
                                                      En. S.Y.T. 1973 (1st), c. 30
Loan Agreement (1974), No. 1
                                     N.C.N.R.
                                                       En. S.Y.T. 1974 (2nd), c. 24
Loan Agreement (1975), No. 1
                                    N.C.N.R.
                                                      En. S.Y.T. 1975 (1st), c. 22
Loan Agreement (1975), No. 2
                                     N.C.N.R.
                                                       En. S.Y.T. 1976 (1st), c. 14
Loan Agreement (1976), No. 1
                                     N.C.N.R.
                                                       En. S.Y.T. 1976 (1st), c. 13
Loan Agreement (1977), No. 1
                                     N.C.N.R.
                                                      En. S.Y.T. 1977 (1st), c. 19
Loan Agreement (1978), No. 1
                                     N.C.N.R.
                                                       En. S.Y.T. 1978 (1st), c. 20
Loan Agreement (1979), No. 1
                                     N.C.N.R.
                                                      En. S.Y.T. 1979 (1st), c. 9
                                                      En. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 19
Loan Agreement (1980), No. 1
                                     N.C.N.R.
                                                       Rp/Re. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 14
Loan Agreement (1981), No. 1
                                     N.C.N.R.
                                                      En. S.Y.T. 1981 (1st), c. 9
Loan Agreement (1982), No. 1
                                    N.C.N.R.
                                                      En. S.Y.T. 1982 (1st), c. 5
                                                      Am. S.T.T. 1984, c. 44
Loan Guarantee, 1985
                                     N.C.N.R.
                                                      En. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 27
Local Improvement District
                                                      In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. L-9
                                    .L-9
                                                      Am. S.Y.T. 1972 (1st), c. 21
Am. S.Y.T. 1972 (2nd), c. 22
Am. S.Y.T. 1977 (1st), c. 11
                                                      Am. S.Y.T. 1977 (1st), c. 22
Am. S.Y.T. 1977 (2nd), c. 6
Rp. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 17, s. 441
Lord's Day
                                     L-10
                                                      In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. L-10
                                                      En. S.Y.T. 1974 (2nd), c. 2
Lotteries
                                     L-10.1
                                                      Rp. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 26
Low Cost Housing
                                     L-11
                                                      In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. L-11
Magistrate's Court
                                     M-1
                                                      See Territorial Court
Maintenance
                                     M-2
                                                      In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. M-2
                                                      Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 30, s. 34
Rp. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 15
                                                      See Matrimonial Property &
                                                       Family Support.
                                     M-3
                                                      In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. M-3
Marriage
                                                      Am. S.Y.T. 1981 (1st), c. 10, s. 5
                                                      Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 45, s. 25
Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 9, s. 9
Married Women's Property
                                    M-4
                                                      In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. M-4
Matrimonial Property
                                     M-4.1
                                                      See Matrimonial Property &
                                                        Family Support
```

```
En. S.Y.T. 1979 (2nd), c. 11
Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 15
Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 16, s. 10
Am. S.Y.T. 1981 (2nd), c. 11, s. 3
Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 2, s. 191
Matrimonial Property &
                                                    M-4.1
 Family Support
                                                                              Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 28
Mechanics' Lien
                                                    M-5
                                                                              In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. M-5
                                                                              Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 20, s. 82
                                                                             Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 45, s. 26
Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 9, s. 10
                                                                              En. S.Y.T. 1972 (1st), c. 9
Mediation Board
                                                    M-5.1
                                                                              Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 22, s. 4
Medical Profession
                                                    M-6
                                                                              In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. M-6
                                                                             Am. S.Y.T. 1975 (3rd), c. 11
Am. S.Y.T. 1978 (1st), c. 7
Rp. S.Y.T. 1979 (2nd), c. 12, s. 63
Medical Profession
                                                    M-6.1
                                                                              En. S.Y.T. 1979 (2nd), c. 12
                                                                              Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 16, s. 11
                                                                             Am. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 13
Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 36
Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 29, s.9
                                                                             In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. M-7
Am. S.Y.T. 1973 (1st), c. 14
Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 20, s. 18
Mental Health
                                                    M-7
                                                                              Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 21
                                                                              Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 9, s. 11
Metric Information Agreement
                                                    N.C.N.R.
                                                                             En. S.Y.T. 1977 (2nd), c. 12
Miners' Lien
                                                    M-8
                                                                              In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. M-8
Mining Safety
                                                    M-9
                                                                              In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. M-9
                                                                             Am. S.Y.T. 1974 (2nd), c. 10
Am. S.Y.T. 1975 (1st), c. 15
Am. S.Y.T. 1978 (1st), c. 8
Rp. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 46*
Motion Pictures
                                                    M-10
                                                                              In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. M-10
                                                                              Rp. S.Y.T. 1981 (2nd), c. 12, s. 2
                                                                              In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. T-4
Motor Transport
                                                                             Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 32
Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 16, s. 14
Am. S.Y.T. 1982 (1st), c. 8
Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 31
                                                                              Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 9, s. 12
                                                                             In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. M-11
Am S.Y.T. 1972 (1st), c. 23
Am. S.Y.T. 1973 (1st), c. 15
Motor Vehicles
                                                    M-11
                                                                             Am. S.Y.T. 1974 (2nd), c. 11
Am. S.Y.T. 1975 (3rd), c. 12
Am. S.Y.T. 1976 (2nd), c. 4
Am. S.Y.T. 1977 (1st), c. 1, s. 236
                                                                             Rp. S.Y.T. 1977 (2nd), c. 4, s. 258
Am. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 24*
```

```
En. S.Y.T. 1977 (2nd), c. 4
Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 20, s. 19
Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 21
Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 30, s. 35
Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 32, s. 26
Notor Vehicles
                                                     M-11.1
                                                                                Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 17, s. 440
Am. S.Y.T. 1981 (2nd), c. 11, s. 4
Am. S.Y.T. 1982, c. 26
Am. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 24
                                                                                Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 23
Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 30*
Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 29, s. 21
                                                      M-12
                                                                                 En. S.Y.T. 1972 (1st), c. 10
Municipal
                                                                                Am. S.Y.T. 1975 (1st), c. 16
Am. S.Y.T. 1975 (2nd), c. 14
Am. S.Y.T. 1976 (3rd), c. 10
Am. S.Y.T. 1977 (2nd), c. 7
                                                                                Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 20, s. 20
Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 30, s. 35
Rp. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 17, s. 441
Municipal
                                                       M-12.1
                                                                                 En. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 17
                                                                                Am. S.Y.T. 1981 (1st), c. 10, s. 7
Am. S.Y.T. 1981 (2nd), c. 11, s. 5
Am. S.Y.T. 1981 (2nd), c. 13
                                                                                Am. S.Y.T. 1982, c. 13
Am. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 13
Am. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 25
Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 4
                                                                                 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 12, s. 13
                                                                                En. S.Y.T. 1972 (1st), c. 11
Rp. S.Y.T. 1981 (1st), c. 11, s. 21
Municipal Aid
                                                      M-13
                                                                                En. S.Y.T. 1972 (1st), c. 12
Rp. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 17, s. 441
Municipal Elections
                                                      ·M-14
                                                                                En. S.Y.T. 1975 (2nd), c. 1
Rp. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 17, s. 441
Municipal Employees Benefits
                                                      M-15
                                                                                En. S.Y.T. 1981 (1st), c. 11
Am. S.Y.T. 1981 (2nd), c. 11, s. 6
Am. S.Y.T. 1981 (2nd), c. 14
Am. S.Y.T. 1982, c. 27
Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 24
Municipal Finance
                                                      M-15.1
Municipal General Purposes
                                                      N.C.N.R.
                                                                                 En. S.Y.T. 1974 (2nd), c. 25
   Loan (1974)
Municipal General Purposes
                                                      N.C.N.R.
                                                                                En. S.Y.T. 1975 (1st), c. 23
   Loan (1975)
Municipal General Purposes
                                                      N.C.N.R.
                                                                                En. S.Y.T. 1976 (1st), c. 15
   Loan (1976)
Municipal General Purposes
                                                      N.C.N.R.
                                                                                En. S.Y.T. 1977 (1st), c. 20
   Loan (1977)
Municipal General Purposes
                                                      N.C.N.R.
                                                                                En. S.Y.T. 1978 (1st), c. 21
   Loan (1978)
Municipal General Purposes
                                                      N.C.N.R.
                                                                                En. S.Y.T. 1979 (1st), c. 10
   Loan (1979)
                                                                                En. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 22
Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 18
Municipal General Purposes
                                                      N.C.N.R.
   Loan (1980)
                                                                                En. S.Y.T. 1981 (1st), c. 12
Municipal General Purposes
                                                      N.C.N.R.
   Loan (1981)
```

Newspaper	N-1	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. N-1 Rp. S.Y.T. 1981 (2nd), c. 12, s. 3
Noise Prevention	N-2	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. N-2 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 31
Notaries	N-3	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. N-3 Am. S.Y.T. 1974 (2nd), c. 12 Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 45, s. 27 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 29, s. 11
Northern Natural Gas Pipeline Agreement	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1979 (1st), c. 4
Occupational Health and Safety	005	En. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 46*
Occupational Training	0-0.1	En. S.Y.T. 1975 (1st), c. 6
Old Age Assistance and Blind Persons' Allowance	0-1	ln. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. 0-1 Rp. S.Y.T. 1975 (1st), c. 12
Optometry	0-2	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. 0-2 Am. S.Y.T. 1982, c. 28 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 29, s. 12
Parks	P-01	En. S.Y.T. 1979 (2nd), c. 13 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 16, s. 12 Am. S.Y.T. 1983, c 19
Partnership	P-1	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. P-1 Am. S.Y.T. 1977 (2nd), c. 8 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 20, s. 21 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 19 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 20, s. 83 Am. S.Y.T. 1982, c. 29 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 32
Pawnbrokers and Second- Hand Dealers	P-2	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. P-2
Perpetuities	P-3	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. P-3 Rp. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 23
Perpetuities	P-3.1	En. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 23
Personal Property Security	P-3.2	En. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 20 Am. S.Y.T. 1982, c. 30
Pharmaceutical Chemists	P-4	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. P-4 Am. S.Y.T. 1973 (1st), c. 16 Am. S.Y.T. 1975 (3rd), c. 13
Pioneer Utility Grant	P-4.1	En. S.Y.T. 1978 (1st), c. 1 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 20, s. 22 Am. S.Y.T. 1981 (1st), c. 13 Am. S.Y.T. 1981 (2nd), c. 11, s. 7 Am. S.Y.T. 1982 (1st), c. 6 Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 47
Plebiscite	P-5	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. P-5
Pounds	P-6	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. P-6 Am. S.Y.T. 1973 (1st), c. 17 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 20, s. 23 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 29, s. 13

Presumption of Death	:P-7	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. P-7 Rp. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 24
Presumption of Death	P-7.1	En. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 24
Public Health	'P-'8	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. P-8 Am. S.Y.T. 1972 (1st), c. 24 Am. S.Y.T. 1975 (3rd), c. 14 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 9, s. 13
Rublic Inquiries	P-8.1	En. S.Y.T. 1973 (1st), c. 5
Public Lotteries	P-8.2	En. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 26
Public Printing	:P-:9	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. 19-9
Public Sector Compensation Restraint (Yukon)	'P-≠9./1	En. S.Y.T. 1982, c. 31 Am. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 7 Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 25
Public Service	P-10	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. P-10 Rp. S.Y.T. 1976 (2nd), c. 2, s. 217
Rublic Service Commission	P-10.1	En. S.Y.T. 1976 (2nd)., c. 2
Rublic Service Staff Relations	¹ P−.11	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. P-11 Am. S.Y.T. 1974 (2nd), c. 13 Am. S.Y.T. 1976 (3rd), c. 11 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 29, s. 14
Public Utilities	P-12	En. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 26
Rurchase and Supply Services Agreement	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1973 (1st), c. 31
Raven	R-0.05	En. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 33
Real Estate Agents' Licensing	R-0.1	En. S.Y.T. 1977 (1st), c. 5 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 20, s. 24 Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 27
Reciprocal Enforcement of .Judgments	'R-,1	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. R-1 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 21 Am. S.Y.T. 1981 (1st), c. 10, s. 8 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 29, s. 15
Reciprocal Enforcement of Maintenance Orders	·R-2	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. R-2 Rp. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 25
Reciprocal Enforcement of Maintenace Orders	'R-12.11	En. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 25 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 34
Recording of Evidence by Sound Apparatus	¹R-3	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. R-3
Recreation	⁴ R-(3:05	En. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 27 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 29, c. 16
Recreation Development	R-3.1	En. S.Y.T. 1977 (1st), c. 6 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 17, s. 440 Rp. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 27
Regulations	-R4	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. R-4 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 20, s. 25 Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 45, s. 28
Rehabilitation Services	R-15	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. R-5 Am. S.Y.T. 1975 (1st), c. 17

Rental-Purchase Housing	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1972 (1st), c. 25
Retirement Plan Beneficiaries	R-5.1	En. S.Y.T. 1979 (2nd), c. 14 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 35
Robert Campbell Bridge Agreement	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1973 (4th), c. 32
Sale of Goods	S-1	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. S-1 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 36
Saw Logs Driving	S-2	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. S-2 Rp. S.Y.T. 1981 (2nd), c. 12, s. 4
School School	S-3	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. S-3 Rp. S.Y.T. 1974 (2nd), c. 14
Schoo1	S-3.1	En. S.Y.T. 1974 (2nd), c. 14 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 22 Am. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 8 Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 22, s. 5
School Trespass	S-3.2	En. S.Y.T. 1981 (1st), c. 14
Scientists and Explorers	S-4	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. S-4
Second Appropriation, 1972-73	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1972 (1st), c. 29
Second Appropriation, 1973-74	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1973 (1st), c. 22
Second Appropriation, 1974-75	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1974 (2nd), c. 18
Second Appropriation, 1975-76	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1975 (2nd), c. 17
Second Appropriation, 1976-77	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1977 (1st), c. 18
Second Appropriation, 1977-78	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1977 (1st), c. 16
Second Appropriation, 1978-79	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1979 (1st), c. 6
Second Appropriation, 1979-80	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 26
Second Appropriation, 1980-81	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 27
Second Appropriation, 1981-82	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1981 (1st), c. 15
Second Appropriation, 1982-83	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1982, c. 32
Second Appropriation, 1983-84	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 9
Second Appropriation, 1984-85	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 28
Second Appropriation, 1985-86	N.C.N.R.	Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 37
Securities	S-5	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. S-5 Am. S.Y.T. 1976 (3rd), c. 12 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 20, s. 26 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 20, s. 84 Am. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 13 Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 29 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 9, s. 14
Seniors' Income Supplement	S-5.1	En. S.Y.T. 1982 (1st), c. 7
Sixth Appropriation, 1974-75	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1975 (1st), c. 19
Small Claims		See Judicature

Social Assistance	S-6	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. S-6 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 16, s. 13
Societies	\$-7	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. S-7 Am. S.Y.T. 1974 (2nd), c. 15 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 20, s. 27 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 23 Am. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 13
Society of Industrial Accountants	S-7.1	See Society of Management Accountants
Society of Management Accountants	S-7.2	En. S.Y.T. 1975 (2nd), c. 2 Am. S.Y.T. 1977 (2nd), c. 9 Am. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 28
Special Rural Development Agreement (Special AKDA)	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1978 (1st), c. 15
Stabilization Fund Loan	S-7.3	En. S.Y.T. 1977 (1st), c. 7 Am. S.Y.T. 1978 (1st), c. 9 Rp. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 29
Steam Boilers	S-8	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. S-8 Rp. S.Y.T. 1979 (2nd), c. 1, s. 4
Students' Financial Assistance	S-8.1	En. S.Y.T. 1975 (2nd), c. 3 Am. S.Y.T. 1978 (1st), c. 10 Am. S.Y.T. 1982, c. 14 Am. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 19 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 29, s. 17
Students' Grants	S -9	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. S-9 Rp. S.Y.T. 1975 (2nd), c. 6
Summary Convictions	S-9.1	En. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 30 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 38
Superannuation, Territorial Employees	S-10	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. S-10 Am. S.Y.T. 1975 (2nd), c. 16
Supervision of Federal Parolees Agreement	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1975 (1st), c. 7
Supreme Court	S-10.1	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. T-2 Am. S.Y.T. 1971 (3rd), c. 3 Am. S.Y.T. 1979 (2rd), c. 15 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 28, s. 3 Am. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 16
Survival of Actions	S-10.2	En. S.Y.T. 1981 (1st), c. 16
Survivorship	S-11	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. S-11 Rp. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 31
Survivorship	S-11.1	En. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 31
Taxation	T-0.1	See Assessment and Taxation
Tenants in Common	T-1	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. T-1
: Territorial Court	T-2	See Supreme Court
Territorial Court	T-2.05	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. M-1 Am. S.Y.T. 1979 (2nd), c. 2 Am. S.Y.T. 1960 (1st), c. 28, s. 2 Am. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 10 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 29, s. 18

Territorial Municipal Employment Loans	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1973 (1st), c. 33
Third Appropriation, 1972-73	M.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1973 (1st), c. 19
Third Appropriation, 1973-74	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1973 (3rd), c. 23
Third Appropriation, 1974-75	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1974 (2nd), c. 19
Third Appropriation, 1975-76	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1975 (3rd), c. 15
Third Appropriation, 1976-77	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1978 (1st), c. 16
Third Appropriation, 1977-78	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1977 (1st), c. 17
Third Appropriation, 1978-79	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1979 (2nd), c. 17
Third Appropriation, 1979-80	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 24
Third Appropriation, 1980-81	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1981 (1st), c. 17
Third Appropriation, 1981-82	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1981 (1st), c. 18
Third Appropriation, 1982-83	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1982, c. 33
Third Appropriation, 1983-84	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 11
Third Appropriation, 1984-85	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 30 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 40
Third Appropriation, 1985-86	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 39
Tobacco Tax	T-2.1	En. S.Y.T. 1974 (2nd), c. 3 Am. S.Y.T. 1976 (1st), c. 9 Am. S.Y.T. 1978 (1st), c. 12 Am. S.Y.T. 1981 (1st), c. 19
Trade Schools Regulation	T-3	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. T-3
Transfer of Prisoners Agreement	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1975 (1st), c. 8
Transport Public Utilities	T-4	See Motor Transport
Travel for Medical Treatment	T-4.1	En. S.Y.T. 1975 (2nd), c. 4
Travel Industry Development Agreement	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1975 (2nd), c. 5
Trustee	T-5	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. T-5 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 33 Am. S.Y.T. 1981 (1st), c. 16, s. 12 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 29, s. 19
Unemployment Assistance Agreement Repeal	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1975 (1st), c. 13
Variation of Trusts	V-1	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. V-1
Vital Statistics	V-2	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. V-2 Am. S.Y.T. 1973 (1st), c. 18 Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 2, s. 192 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 9, s. 15
Wages Recovery	W-1	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. W-1 Rp. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 5, s. 108
Warehouse Receipts	W-1.5	En. S.Y.T. 1981 (2nd), c. 15

Warehousemen's Lien	W-2	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. W-2 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 20, s. 85
Whitehorse, An Ordinance to open a certain portion of Land in the City o		En. S.Y.T. 1978 (1st), c. 13
Whitehorse General Purposes Loan (1972)	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1972 (1st), c. 32
Whitehorse General Purposes Loan (1973)	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1973 (1st), c. 34
Whitehorse (Takhini and Valleyview) Lands	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1975 (2nd), c. 18
wildlife	W-2.5	En. S.Y.T. 1981 (2nd), c. 16 Am. S.Y.T. 1982, c. 15 Am. S.Y.T. 1982, c. 34 Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 45, s. 29 Am. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 40
Wills	W-3	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. W-3 Amr. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 29, s. 20
Woodmen's Lien	W-4	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. W-4 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (2nd), c. 20, s. 86 Rp. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 45, s. 31
Workers' Compensation	W-4.1	In. R.S.Y.T. 1971, c. W-5 Rp/Re. S.Y.T. 1973 (3rd), c. 6 Am. S.Y.T. 1975 (3rd), c. 6, s. 4 Am. S.Y.T. 1977 (2nd), c. 10 Am. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 20, s. 28 Am. S.Y.T. 1981 (1st), c. 10, s. 6 Am. S.Y.T. 1982, c. 35 Am. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 19 Am. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 29 Am. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 45, s. 30
Workmen's Compensation	W-5	See Workers' Compensation
Workmen's Compensation Supplementary Benefits	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1973 (3rd), c. 7
Young Offenders Agreement	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 32
Young Offenders Welfare Agreement	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1976 (2nd), c. 3
Young Voyageur Agreement	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1975 (1st), c. 9
Yukon Council	Y-1	See Legislative Assembly
Yukon Development Corporation	Y-1.5	En. S.Y.T. 1985, c. 41*
Yukon River Basin Study Agreement	N.C.N.R.	En. S.Y.T. 1980 (1st), c. 34 Am. S.Y.T. 1983, c. 30
Yukon Tartan	Y-2	En. S.Y.T. 1984, c. 48



